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PREFACE,

I ax this day condemned to die by my country’s laws. My
country hasextended the limited time first fixed for my existence
on earth, in order that I might write an account of the causes,
which have led to my death.

The short time I have to' live, together with the multiplied
duties I have to perform, toward comsolating my family and
friends, will unavoidably render the details of facts, which I
shall leave for the perusal of my countrymen, greatly discon-
nected and confused. I shall abandon all studied style; T shall
only ia laconic language record facts. I do not regret to die.
My fate has moved all, who stood allied to me, by either ties of
kindred or friendship, mote than it has me. T am satisfied. I
die for pursuing, what tne dictates of my clearest and most
deliberate judgment had determined it was, at least justifiable in
me to do, if not my duty to do; and for which, no guilty pang
of conscience, has ever yet reproved me, or, the certain prospect
of death, made me feel the least regret. And if my death,
teaches a respect for the laws of my country, my example wili
be not less serviceable, in teaching & respect for those laws of
honor, to revenge the violation and outrage of which, I so freely
die. The death of Col. Sharp at my hands will teach two
lessons not altagether uncalled for by the present moral and
political state of society in Kentucky. It will teach a certain
class of heroes, who make theirglory to consist in triumphs over
the virtue and the happiness of warthy unfortunate orphan
fomales, to pause sometimes in their mad career, and reflect that

though the deluded victim of their villany, may have nc father
to protec* or revenge her vet some friendly arm may sooner or
]
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jater be nerved by her to avenge her blighted prospeets. Some
great aren mever think their fame complete, until some worthy
widowed matron, meurns at their hands, the imnolation of &
favorite daughter; the pride and comfort of her declining years.
To sach I have spoken, a loud and lasting wamming. My
example, or rather that of Col. Sharp’s, will alse teach the
unprineipled politician in his carcer of ambitien, that if his
dishonor has driven frem society, and buried i a living grave
an unfortunate female who had fallen a wictim to his villany, it
may be better to lie under the reproach of her seduction, than to
hazzard adding further insult to so deep an injory, slander and
detraction, to such an outrage upon every human feeling.

To justify myself before my country, and for the satisfaction
of my family, who feel dishonored by my condemnation, I shall
submit to the world, a plain uareserved narrative, of the motives
and causes, which led me to become an assassin.

And to place in a fair light, all the feelings which have led to
‘he assassination of Col. Sharp,—I shall be unavoidably led, to
give some few abstracted remarks upoa what sort of beings both
mysel and my wife are; for thismurderis neither imputable to
the one ot to the other of us, but to both. And as my wife is, ¥
know inflexible in her determination, that as I die for her, she
will die with me, I have no motive to conceal the part which she

has acted,—the more especially, as she insists to let the world .

know all the agency she has had, in bringing about a revenge,
for the deep indelible wrong, which Col. Sharp had done her,

and her family. _, ‘
J. 0. BEAUCHAMP
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THE CONFESSION

OF

JEREBOAM BEAUCHAMP.

I sy the second son of :a most worthy and respectable farmer.
Wy parents at an early period of my life, became professors
of the Christian religion, and ever after lived quite piously up te
its dictates. The early part of my education, which generally
nasa lasting impression upon the bent of the mind, was of a most
pious and salatary kind. - I was mucha favorite with wmy fond
father, although of a most wild eccentric and ungovernable tem-
per of mind.—But he was flattered by his friends, that I early
showed some indications of ‘genius ; wherefore, at their solicita-
tion, he determined to give me an education, much beyond his
limited fortune; for he was not wealthy, thongh his enterprise
ard industry, had made him comfortably independent for the
comitry life.

I was placed quite early in the hest schools within his reach.
I was natnrally of a most volatile, idle, and wild disposition.
But the great ease with wnich I acquired whatever Liaining 1
turned my dttention to, enabled me to so far gain the praise of my
totors as to interest my father’s friends to advise him, to put me
somewherd ‘under an able teacher in order to.a thorough classical
education; although his numerous rising family seemed to
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10 BEAUCHAMP’S B_ONFESSIUN.

render his ability to complete it hopeless. But fortune placed
me under the care of a man of great abilities and learning ; to
whose paternal affection and attachment to me, I cannot here
withhold this last passing tribute of my oratitude. This was
Doct. Benjamin Thurston, than whom I have not found on the
earth, onc man who approaches nearer the dictates of honor and
philosophy.

Under him and some other teachers, although I was several
times interrupted wrom my course of education, by being taken
home, and ether casualties, 1 acquired by the time I was 15 or
16 years of age, a good English education ; a knowledge of the
Latin language,and a respectable acquaintance with the Sciences.
—But feeling for the difficulties under which I saw my father
laboring to do equal justice to others of his numerous family,
of younger children, who began to claim more of his exertions
for their education, I resolved no longer to burthen him with
mine, but to henceforth shift for myself, and as well as 1 could
complete my education by my own exertions.

Reluctant as I was to quit my course of learning, I turned my at-
tention fora time to make a little money by keeping a store.  But
this soon growing insupportable to me, as it quite took me off
from all pursuits of education, I procured a recommendation from
my former tutors, to teach a school myself, although quite tos
young for such a trust. Tn this way I made some money, and
then again went to farther prosecute my edncation. But in a
little time, I was invited, by my former friend and benefactor
Doct. Thurston, into his schonl,—where I assisted him in his
duties, and by the time 1 was eighteen years old, completed my
education, so far as I thought it necessary ot important to go,
preparatory to the study of the law; which all my friends
advised me to pursue. Mingling with my acquaintances of
the bar at Glasgow, and those attending the courts there from
Bowling-Green, I was about this time attracted by a general burst
of generous indignation amongst them, toward Col. Solomon P.
Sharp, of the bar, from Bowling-Green, for the seduction of Miss
Ann Cooke of that place. I was acquainted with £ol. Sharp

sonally, and somewhat intimately toe, for being. greatly
delighted with his eloquence, and degigning to study the law
mysell, 1 had sought his acquaintance, and had expressed some
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BEAUCHAMP!'S CONFESSION. 11

thought of endeavoring to place myself in a situation where I
could study under hisdirection. . I should have mentioned to him
oty wish, but for this, very story about Miss Cooke. Now, I
was not personally acquainted with Miss Cooke.—1I knew how-
ever the Cooke family by character, and I had heard the gentle-
men of the bar of: my acquaintance, from Bowling-Green, speak
often in high and enthusiastic terms of Miss Ann Cooke, for intel-
ligence, etc. Andthé more especially, when the execrations of
Col. Sharp for her seduction; was in the high tone, to which it
was at first carried amongst them. But there was a younggen-
tleman from Bowling-Green at that time, a room-mate and
bosom friend of mine, wha had been intimately acquainted with
Miss Cooke, and much devoted to her.

Hearing the high account which he gave of her character, and
the animated representation which an enthusiastic devotee would
make of the dishonor to an injured female; to whom he was so
much devoted, he much inflamed the indignation so infectious in
the youthful bosom, for injuriesof this kind, and which had been
caught and kindled" in my bosom, from those of the profession,
with whom 1 then associated. . My friend held Col. Sharp in
utter contempt and abhorrence, and from him Iimbibed somewhat
of my personal dislike, in-so-much, that I felta disinclination to
enter into even those cordial salutations of friendship, which had
heretofore characterised our- intercourse. - He was a man of the
greatest penetration, and I think on one occasion noticed this.
For he had learned my design to enter the study of thelaw; and I
suppose had heard some one speak of my thoughts of studying
wnder him. For he asked me once, if I intended to go imme-
diately to the study of the law. I replied, I should in a few
months. He said he had learned I intended to go to Bowling-
Green, and wished to study with him. I replied with rather
more austerity than politeness, I shouid probably go to Bowling-
Green, but T had not determined to study with him. The man-
ner.in which I spoke this, I saw started some little surprise in
his countenance, more from my impoliteness, than anything else.
However it passed off withhis flattering me with auguring well of 5
my success; and by saying, if I should come to Bowling-Green

he would be pleased to have it i1 his powerto facilitate in any way !

my progress. It mav seem strange that I should' have ‘been 8o
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19- BEAUCHAMP'S CONFESSION.

-,

easily infected with dislike, toward one 1 had heretofore admired ,
merely, Dy the tale of his dishonor toward a female, to whom 1
was an uttet stranger.  But such was the enthusiasm of all'my
pas'_sioﬂs, that when I had a bosom friend, all his partialities were
my partialities, all his antipathies mine. = Besides, this was-a
species of dishonor, which from my earliest recollection, had
ever exeited my most violent reprobation. I had ever said, I
would as soen receive into my friendship, a horse thief, as a maa
however high his standing, whohad dishonored and prostrated the
hopes of a respectable and worthy female. And I still say, there
is more intriusic dishonor and basenessin it, than in stealing a
man?s horse, and should be received with less forgiveness or coun-
tenance, by society.

Under these habitual feelings and sentiments, it is not so
strange, that T should participate in a strong degree, with my
friend in his contempt and dislike of Col. Sharp, for his dishonor
toward a worthy orphan female, who my friend represented in
such high terms.  With these prepossessions of sympathy Jor
Miss Cooke, I retired to spend & few months in a country life
with my father, previous to'my entering the study of the law.
This I done to reinstate my health, which had become much
impaired by a life of late too sedentary and studious. - My father
Jived in'the country in' Simpson County, which was one or two
counties removed from Glasgow, where 1 had been going to
school. ' Since my last: visit to my father’s, Miss Cooke had
retired to a romantic littke farm, within a mile of my father’s,
there to spend in seclusion the remainder of her days, with only
her aged mother and a few servants. Immediately on learning
that, when I arrived at my father’s, I determined to become ac-
quainted with one, I'had heard so much talk about. But fo my
great' disappointment and mortification, I learned, she sternly
refused to make any acquaintances, or even to receive the society
or visits of her former acquaintances. This for some time, pre-
verted my visiting her. © But my anxiety and curiosity increased
with ‘the accounts I continued to hear of her, until at length I
resolved to intrude a visit upon her however unwelcomely I an.
ticipated she would receive it ;—the more espevially, if unaccom-
paniied by an introduction from any friend, or acquaintance of’
Xers. T however venfured over one evening, snd was ushered




BEAUCHAMP’S CONPESBSION. 13

into a room by the servamts,—but after waiting there some time,
I yet saw no one but the servants, although as I approached the
houge, I had seen Miss Cooke in that very room. I wasat
length served by the servants with some fruits, but Miss Cooke
had retired, declining to see me. I sent for her; she came. I
introduced mysgelf to her, and told her, that notwithstanding I
had learned she was disinclined to make any acquaintances, or
to receive the visits of any one, I had been impelled to obtrude a
visit upon her. I spoke of her friend and acquaintance of Glas-
gow, whom I had heard speak very highly of her, and that he
had so heightened my anxiety to become acquainted with her,
tlat I had resolved to hazzard the mortification which her persis-
ting to decline any acquaintance with me, would give me. 1
told her that spending my life very lonesomely in the country,
without either books or society, I had the more hoped she would
excuce my indrusion, and at least-if she refused me her society.
or to become acquainted with my sisters, who wished to visit
her, she would favor me with the benefit of her library, whilst T
remaised ia the country, as I had been told she had a very ehoice
selection of books. She replied, that as to her society, she had
retired to that secluded spot, never again to mix with the world;
that the reason she had left Bowling-Green, was to avoid society,
and she must therefore tell me frankly it would be against her
wishes to receive company; but, that as to her library, it was
quite at my service, and it would give her much pleasure to con-
tribute in any degree, to my amusement or advancement by the
Ioan of any books she had. She then spread her library open to
me, and we continued all the evening in my selecting and reading
some books of philosophy, which she had pointed out as favo_
rites of-hers, and in the conversations to” which this led.

Oax the approach of-night when I spoke of taking my leave, 1
sclected only one book, to take home with me; but she insisted
on my taking several. I said T would read the one I had selected,
anc return for others. I saw from her smile she penetrated my
design in that to frame an excuse for-another visit soon, Never:
theless, I took but one small book, nor scarcely delayed to read:
that, e’er I returned for another. ‘She declined seeing nvs, hut
having the library thrown open to me she sent me some exeuse
for not seeing me. I read some hours there alone, and left th
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14 BEAUCHAMP’S CONFESSION,.

house without seeing her. In a few days she had begun to haunt
my thoughts and my dreams, in a way that youths, who have felt
the like sensations can better imagine, than I describe, I deter-
mined to visit her again; butshe again declined to seeme; I was
vexed at the disappointment.

After reading some hours, I sent a second time, insisting to see
her, feigning some especial reason for it. When she came, I
entered into a long and urgent remonstrance against her persisting
to refuse to see me. I told her, it was not her books which led
me there; that it was her and not her books, and used all the ad.
dress and persuasion I was master of, to induce her to relax her
sternness of purpose not to receive the visit of any one; but to
suffer my sisters to be introduced to her. She persisted with
much firmness to refuse it; but with not less modesty, entered into
a feeling representation why I should not insist on making my
sisters acquainted with her. She told me she never could be
happy in society again, and as she could not return the visits of
my sisters, they would not wish to visit her; but that as to my
visits; when they were intended to reap any benefits her library
could afford me, it was at my service. I however, soon took my
sisters to see her. She received them with much politeness, and
entertained us very agreeably.  She however, declined their in-
vitation to return their visit, nor did she solicit them to visit her
again. [ continued to visit her nearly every week after this, and
whenever I would go, I.would seldom take any denial to see her;

till at length, I, by increasing impoj 3ty and- persuasion, pre.
vailed with her to receive my visif¥as thoge of a friend and
acquaintance.

- I told her I would not break in upon her retirement, by pre-
suming to address her as a lover; but that I only besought her
society and conversation of an evening, occasionally as a friend.
To this she at length so far assented as to meet me on my visits
and: gpend part of the time I was there, in the room with me, and
thewpetire to her reading, drawing, painting, or otheramusements
which employed her time daily, = Thus passed as much as three
months, during which time, scarce one week together escaped
without my seeing her.. And meantime, there was enkindled
between us, a mutual friendship, such as mortals seldom feel. I
called it friendship out of complaisance to.her stoical philosophy,
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and because I'had by special agreement, settled it asa preliminary
to our acquaintance, that I was not to speak to her of love. ' But
call it what we might, I was conscious there was kindled in my
heart, a feeling and a flame, I had never felt before. In short, I
was in love; and that with all the ardor of a youth, of ardent pas-
sions and feelings, when he first feels the buddings of that sweetest
of all passions, which reciprocated happily, turns Earth into 2
Heaven ; and althongh T never once ventured to name this to Miss
Coole, yet to the fair sex, I need not say, there is a language in
the eye of the lover, which they will much sooner deperd upon,
than that of the tongue. ' And although when I did tell Miss
Cooke of ‘my passion, she remonstrated against anything, upon
that subject; yet I could see in despite of all her stoicism, she
was at least not very violently displeased at me, fer mentioning
the subject. But she firmly persisted for some time, to decline
hearing anything of love from me. But being now almost daily
associated with her; on terms of the most intimate reciprocal
friendship, I became satisfied, she also felt something more than
friendship for me. 'We now frequently conversed, and freely,
upon the subject of love; but she always held out, there .was an
insuperable barrier to her encouraging in me or in herself any
feelings of that sort. At length I formally solicited her hand in
marriage.  She refused it, but with such a burst of feeling as would
have rendered her persisting in that refusal, tenfold more painful.
But she told me there was an insuperable objection within her
own bosom to marriage, but that her heart did not find that objec-
tionin me. In this, she long persisted, but would never tell me
what that fatal barrier to my happiness was. At length, I resolved
to take no denial, but to know this secret objection. She then
told me, with a firmness, which spoke that it was the voice of fate,
that the hand which should receive hers, would have to revenge
the injury a villain had done her. She said her heart could never
cease to ache, till Col. Sharp should die through her instrumen-
tality ; that he had blighted all her happiness; and while he lived,
she would feel unworthy of my love. But she said, she would
kiss the hand, and adore the person who would revenge her ; but
that no one else, save myself should do it. !

% No conditions, ‘nor any earthly proposition she  could thave
made me could have filled me with so muchdelight. = Whenever
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16 BEAUCHAMP’S CONFESSIONS.

T had contemplated a marriage with her, I had always esteemed
the death of Col. Sharp anecessary consequence. . I never fora
moment could suffer a villain to live, who had been the seducer
of one I pressed to my bosom as a wife. ~And to hear her thus
require, what I had so much calculated on and desired was pecu-
liarly pleasing to me indeed. These feelings I expressed to her
and told her it had been my firm purpose to take Col. Sharp’s
life, if T married her. She then consented to become my wife,
and in my ardor T determined to fight Col. Sharp before our
marriage. He was at that time at Frankfort. I resolved to.go
immediately in quest of him. She remonstrated against that;
for she said Col. Sharp was a coward and would not fight me a
duel; and being at Frankfort surrounded by his friends, and I a
stranger, he would have every advantage over me. But that if I
would delay $ill I could catch him in Bowling-Green, her friends
would support me in any revenge I chose to take upon him. ~ But
as the office of Attorney General was about this time tendered
Him T learned he would remain at Frankfort and send for hig
family to reside there : ‘wherefore I prepared to go immediately
to Frankfort. T did not feel that as a stranger unallied to Miss
Cooke, T could justify myself before the world to kill-Col. Sharp
on his refusal to fight me. My ‘determination therefore, was to
force him if possible to fight me, or if not, I had given avow and
golemn oath to her for whom T intended to kill him, that I would
do it in such a manner as might least' endanger my own life.
When T ook my leave of Miss ‘Cooke, my sister was present.
Shes.buest into tears at parting, and invoked the protecting arm of
Heaven to be my defense and my shield. This quite astonished
my sister, and not less, old Mre. Cooke, when she heard of it.
Tt seemed also a mystery and a matter of concern to my parents

“and all the family, when T next day set off to be gone from home

some time without telling any one where I was going, onoa what
business; nor do my parents or any of my family, or any one
elso, save Col. Sharp, my wife and myself, know to this day,
what hrought me to Frankfort, at the time of which I now speak.
It has been a perfeet mystery to every body. § .

I arrived in Frankfort, about the commencement of the session
of the Legislature, in 1821, T think it was. I got to town on
Sundsy after dinner. Tn the evening, T met Col. Sharp upon the




HEAUCHAMP'S CONFESEION. .

Mansion-house pavement. 1had not seen one man in town, save
himself, whom I knew. Hemet me in the most cordial manner
of friendship. I then took him by the arm, telling bim 1 had’
come to Frankfortto see him on business of greatimportance,ana
asked him to walk with me, He readily complied, and we cone
tinued our walk down the river till we had- gotten to a retired
place quite out of the town; we then halted as the bells were by
that time ringing for supper. I then asked Col. Sharp if he re-
collected the last words which the injured Miss Cooke had spoker
to him? He turnod pale as a corpse and stood motionless as a
statne.of stone.

« Col. Sharp,” said I, *“I have come deputed and sent by her,
to take your life.”” 1 am the man of whom, in the spirit of
prophecy, she spoke to you, when she forbade you her presence.
She says you will nut fight me. Will you sir, or not? He

aused some minutes motionless. I continued : answer me, Col.
Sharp! Will you fight me a duel ? He replied, *“my dear friend
I cannot fight you, on account of Miss Cooke.” I then drew
my dirk and stood back from him, and bid him defend himself.
Said he, upon my honor, Sir, I have not & weapon, but a small
pen-knife.” 1 took from  my pocket a Sparish knife and said to
him (holding out that and my dirk,) choose one of these sir, and
T will throw- it te you. My dear friend, said he, I cannot, fight
you on Miss Cooke’s account. I threw him then the knife, and
«aid to him, advancing and raising my dagger, you damn’d
villain what do you intend by that ?—that she is not worthy you,
should fight her friend and avenger. My friend, said he, I did
ot mean that, 1 never can: fight-the friend of that worthy
injured lady. If ‘her brothers had murdered me, I never conld
have had the heart to raise my hand to defend myself. And if
you, my friend, are her husband T will never raise my hand
against you. - I'replied, I am not her hasband sir; but I am her
friend and avenger. She has sent me to take your life. Now,
sir, tell me will you fight me a duel, (again raising my dagger.)
He then stepped back a step; and I thought from the turn of his
eye was preparing to rum. I sprang forward and caught him by
the breast of his coat; and said, now you damn’d yillain_you
shall die. He then foll on his knees and said, my life ia in your
 hands, my friend I beg my life. Spare it for mercy’s sake. .
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18 BEAUCHAMP’'S CONFESSION.®

let go his coat and slapped himin the face, so hard as to tilt him
back on his hands. T thensaid get up you coward, and go till I
meet you in the street to-morrow ; and as he arose, I gave kim a
kick ; now said I go arm yourself, for to-morrow I shall horse-
whip you in the streets, and repeat it daily until you fight me 3
duel. He then began to beg; called me his dear friend in every

‘gentence : told me how miserable he was for his conduct ; said

his whole estate was at our command, and anything we chose
to require at his hands, if I would let him live, for his wife ard
child’s sake, and then advanced, again to kneel to me. I told
him to stand off you villain, or I will take your life for the

"insult of offering me your estate. He said he did not mean to

insult me, but anything under Heaven, he would do which ]
would require if I would spare hislife. - T told" him it wss
unnecessary to multiply words, for he would have to kill me or
I would him, so that he had better at once consent to fight me
and that I would give him any advantage he chose, as to the
manner of fighting; but fight he must or die. Why said he,
my dear friend, if you were to take a dirk and I had a swoud, I
could not raise it against you. He then affected to weep, and said,
my friend, if John Cooke had beaten me to death, with a stick,
and I had had a sword I would never have raised it against him.
Very good, said I Col. Sharp, you are about: such a whining
coward, as I was told you were. But sir, it will oaly give me
the more prolonged pleasure in killing you.  For i I dont beat
you in the streets daily until I make you fight me, or until I beat
vou to death; one or the other I will certainly do. So now go
sleep upon that, until I meet you to-morrow in the street.

I then turned about to hunt the knife I had thrown him. He
began again to whine out some flattery and adulation, to prevail
with me not to kill him. Oh, said he, you are the favored
possessor of that great and worthy woman’s love ? Be it g0 then
Here take my life. 1 deserve it.  But do not disgrace nie in the
streets. 1 bade him begone from me; or I would abide his offer in
a moment, (starting toward him.)

He then started off toward town and after I hunted some time
for my knife, and could not find it, agiit wes now grown soms-
thing dark, in the river bottom, 1= also ‘started back to my

‘Jodgings. - This %nife had J. O« B.plainly engraven on the blade
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gnd possibly some one may have found it who will . When 1 got!'

these letters being on it. Next morning I boughkays, on hig
heavy horsewhip, and after breakfast paraded ind left his
armed at all points for battle. For I expected the U lLe there

gurround himself by friends and take advantage of the | ceuld
shoot me as I approached to assault him. Butlale by,
pistols and intended to menace the attack, at a distance, ~Col.
proaching him without saying a word to him, and if he firekis
me I also would draw and firé at a distance, as I knew I would~
have an advantage therein, as I was well practiced with. the
pistol, which I knew he was not.

I made several sailies round the town that day, but no Col.
Sharp appeared. 1 imagined he had kept his room that day
with the hope that I would leave town. Next day I patrolled
the streets for him until dinner. 1 thenbegan to inquire for him,
when lo! I was told, he had the day before set off at daylight,
for Bowling-Green to bring his family to Frankfort. I mounted
my horse and started immediately after him, but as I supposed
he was too much a-head of me, for me to overtake him, I rode
quite leisurely, and tooka route by my uncle’s, Col. Beauchamp’s
which was out of my way. Besides, nothing could have pleased
me so well as the idea of encountering him in Bowling-Green.
But behold, when I got to Bowling-Green I found I had been
deceived. Col. Sharp was not there, nor was he expected there
for some considerable time ;.1 was much enraged, it is true but
really I could not help being somewbat diverted at the trick which
had been played upon me.

t * We then determined to delay me:ying until Col. Sharp should
come to settle up his business in Bowling-Green, and then lure
Him to the retirement, where Miss Cooke lived, and there kill
him.

At length he came to Bowling-Green. I was there when he
came, and went immediately to retirement, to concert a scheme to
TJure-liim there. ~ Miss Cooke wrote him a long letter, telling him
that notwithstanding the feelings she had manifested teward him,
‘wheit last she saw him, and the sternness with which she had
Ltorbid him never to see her again, these had not been the feelings
of her heart, but only the momentary effusions of delirium. .. She
told him he need not be surprited that thel wild chif.a‘lrona
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fet go his e n ethusiastic devotee, of a youth of Mr, Be'a.uchamp’a.‘

baok onhis Oove made him hope to ingratiate himself with her

ficet i  a duel on her account. ~She told him it was true, she

Lick s o™ something pleasad with Mr. Beauchamp’s mind, and
hi ! %ave, by her expressions to that effect, encouraged. his

due]p % but, owing to the course Le had told her he had taken
g “drd Col. Sharp, she had entirely broken off his visits. . She
.,,_1d she expected to leave the State very soon, and either go to
"Virginia or Mississipi, and that as he had conjured her by lette:,
that if she should ever consent, under any conditions, to suffer
him to see her, she had thought befare she left the State; she
would like to give him his letters, and if he had retained any of
hers, get them from him. She requested that he would be there
certainly, on such an evening, and that he would apprise her by
the servant who bore that letter, whether or not he would do so.

Col. Sharp received this letter, and immediately heread it asked
the servant whether Mr. Beauchamp was at his Miss Ann’s when
he came away. The servant told him no. Forhe had been in-
structed not to let it be known I wasithere.. Col. Sharp then asked
him if T continued to visit his mistress? The servant told him
I did: How Jong had it been since I had been there? The
servant said several days. Did I visit there often; Yes, the
servant told him I was there frequently. Well, was his mistress
and I to he married? The servant said there had been such talk.
Was T in that neighborhood at that time? The servant told him
I wasnot; forhe had been told not to let it be known in Bowling-
Green, I was at his mistress’s,

Col. Sharp then wrote the most feeling letter I ever read in my
life, expressing to Miss Cooke the inconceivable surprise and
delizht he had felt on receiving her letter, permitting him. once
more to see her, of which he was so unworthy: and concluded,
that death alone would prevent his certain attendance at her house,
on the hour.appointed. When the servant came back and, told
us all the questions Col. Sharp had asked him, we at once feared
he suspected some snare was laid for him, and would not come.
¥ The second evening after we got his answer, wasappointed for
him to be there. | waited with great anxiety, but not with much
hope, for his arrival. He did not come.

By light next morning, I dashed off for Bowling-Green. deter
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sained there, to end the matter with him some way. When 1 got?
to Bowlinz-Green, I feund Col. Sharp was:two full days, on hig
woy to Fraukiort! But T was told there, that he had left his
business, in so unsettled a state, that he must and would he there
acain before very long.  We had postponed marrying tll | certld
finish the study of the law. Wherefore, 1 resolved to lie by,
quite still, and prosecute my studies in Bowling-Green, till Col.
Sharp should at lenath again venture down there, to settleup his
business. For in fact, 1 did feel, that I never could call Miss
Cooke my wife, till Col. Sharp should die at my hands: and she
said she felt unworthy of me, and woudd feel that she had degraded
me by marrying me, before 1 had revenged the injuries she had
received. 17

I pmsc—t:mcd iy studies with arder and finished them ; and 1f
Col. Sharp was ever in that-country, after the snare we laid to
lure him to retirement, it was when I was absent, in Tenunessee ;
for 1 watched with an hawk’s eye for him. o

Now our design, when we attempted to lure Col. Sharp to

cetirement, was for' Miss' Cooke, ~with her own hand, to shoot

Kim. 1 did not like that.  But she was inflexible; and 1 had
learied hef to fire my pistols, she had practiced with them till
che conld place a ball, with an accuracy, which, were it univei-
sally equalled, by our modern’ duelists, would render the practice
of dueling, much more fatal than it is frequently seen to be of
late.

The idea that any other haad' than mine, should kill - Col.
Sharp, was ever grating tomy feelings.  But sheever secmed to
esteem the possibility of killing him with her own hand as what
<o most desired of all things in the world. And instead of that
purpose arowing weaker after she had fornied it, it seemed evecy
dav to faston iself more and more upon her mind. This true
ymanish whim prolonged to Col. Sharp many days of life. For
had forned this purpose, it fastened 1tsell’ upon

wom
when once she
Lesmind, with such a firmuess, that all my remonstrances could
hake it off; and she persisted in it, that let the world say

Rever s
-or Qol. Sharp should again come to Bowling-

what it might, if ey

Green, and she could find it out, she would lay some intrigue
which would gain her an interview with Col. Sharp, and with her
“own hand. she would take his life. But when I had completed

!
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‘my studies, we got married.  Afler this, 1 watched the Bowling.
Grcon courts, and | pt a spy there I'1u'-'~.1t1”\' to rvm" nie imme-
‘diate notice il ever Col. Sh, arp should be lieard of in that part of
the cotuntry. 1 had now mareied Miss Cooke, and felt that 1
had a sutlicient apology lefore the world to revenge upon Tol:
SHitp thie injury be had done her.” Neither could 1 any ionger,
Bk of the wild idea of my wife’s revenging her owe
Wriirs,
| was married in June, 1824, Col. Sharp was {'\'ll!'!'li'l] down
certainly that summer. That year was the Gubernatoriul elee.
tion. The coutest ‘was between Judae Tompkins and Generzl
Desha. I looked to this contesty with immense solicitude for
"Tompkins’ election; not only because he was a man ol so much
better qualifications and alilities, and of my own polities; but ox
diccount of the petition which 1 foresaw witl prophetie certunty,
]] would have to make for the executive clemency. = For althougls,
‘while [ was unmarried, 1 did not feel that 1 could justify myselt
(for killing Col. Sharp; yet when Miss Cooke had become my
\wile, I felt determined if ever 1 could catelr him i Bowlina-
‘Green that he should fight me a duel,’or I would cane lnm, when-
ever he ventured out of his room, until I would either make l:iim
defend himsell'by arms, and thus, one or the other die, or | would
at «ast beat him quite to death publicly.  For I kuew that it
‘ever I caught him there I would be supported aud wphield, and
defended by men of spirit, in any measures of revenge 1 chose: to
take toward him. -Andevenif I should be at lastlorced to kill
him publicly, witkout legal justification, I had seen witn wha

abisolute and infallible certainty the favor or ;n.n*n..m ol ily
vlace decides a man’s fate, in capital eases in t coudnyy i
in B ~.Green I had nothine to fear in any event.  Butalie
Posha was elected; T always dreaded o come in conticeti v
Gol. Sharp in Frankfort. Sharp wasithe Attorne v-Gunseigds o

1§ |
])r\\.\..ei'.ﬂed vast influence oy and about Frasklort. feome Bis
lwealth anditalents. 1 knew Gov. Desha was not v
‘;1[_'55, and T niuch feaved that snould £ encomnter €al. Suarp e
Frankfort, and'be there tiied the influence of Shapp'siriends wonld
blacken everything against me, and 1 much feared that 1n atinal
fresort to the executive, Desha noult. be sv.,l_) ed by the popular

‘elamor around him. ! 2
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Judge Tompkins was a man of the greatest firmness. I had
been raised up under hiseye. His children Liad Deen my carly
playmates and schoolmates. I had heen muclt about his houses
and had early marked and admired his ever fimm temper of justices
in all his actions, public and private.  All his character forbid me
to fear that anythine but a sense of intrinsic justice would ever
inflyence him in the slichtest dearee; in a case of life or death.
Not so Desha. Popular clamor alone, soverned himever. Tlis
consideration made me hesitate much at the thought of ever coming
to Frankfort to kiil Col. Sharp.

During all the summer of 1824, he was expected in Bowling-
Green, but did not .come. It was then said he would surcly be at
the Spring Court in Bowling-Green. - Still he did not come. - I
now began to grow: impatient; and to fear -he never intended to
venture down there any more.

I atlast fell upon a device, whereby tometfrom himself directly
tie {ruth of when he would' be there, without his knowinge the
persoh making the inquiry.. For this purpose I would put in tho
post-office at one place and then at another, letters to Col. Sharp,
with names never heard of before, feigning some weighty land
claimsin the Green River country, and wishine to know whon lie
would be there,that T might see him about them. The last of th
letters was in the name of Zebulon X. Yantis

heard of bLefore,). inquiring whether Col. Sharp would. e ‘in
Bowling-Green at Auzust Court there or not. I hadavritten one

other inthe same name by a stranger travelling through Fra;

i ankli

I had golten: Col. Sharp’s answer. He was:indecisive whether
e would be at Aurust cowt in Warren or not. - I therefore wrote

his last letter, dated June 27, 1825. I told Col. Sharp I had net

his former letter, and was extremely anxions, therefore he

Id give me an immediate'eply to that, as it was a’matier

ance to me.. i received no answer to this till after

the election. But before the election an incident gecurred which

ettled my purpose, that if Col. Sharp did not very soon come

inlo tl

1at country, I would seek him in whatever corner of the
world he might be hid. - Some little time hefore the election, I
received a letter from a gentleman, who at that time lived in
 the whole world, informing me of the reports and insinuations
- which Col. Sharp and his family had circulated, that the child
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of my wife was a snulatto. T day this gentleman lived inthe
whole'world. T will not give any mare definits description, of|
him lest, peradventure, [ n-]ig,rht ministorto the etavings of Deslia
and his satellites for some pretext ol detraction from the merit,
which their envy hates. He was not as they would fain insin-
uate, inflaenced by political jealonsy or personal envy, to write
this letter. Tor he was as much superior to Col. Sharpor any
other of Desha’s satellites, or Desha himself, as " ks principles
were more pure or his mind more honorable than theirs. His
ledter was written in a spirit of pure, honorable aud disinterested
justice ; because he thought it right I should know of this vile
conduct of Colonel Sharp and his family, and set them right.
Neither will I give anything of his letter more, than that it gave
me the infermation about the report of the negro child; lest
Desha’s apes should pretend to found thercon some basis for.
their random guesses for the author. It is sufficient to say; he
was a man on whose word I would and have resigned my life.
And he rote me that the Sharp’s-had set afloat insinuations,
aat the child «¢ Miss Cooke was a mulatto, in order to do
wway the charge v ainst the Colonel for seduction.

The writer signed his own proper name to the letter, and told
me he would rather not be known as having voluntarily com.
municated to me the information he had, but thatif Col. Sharp
endeavored to a void responsibility by denying that he had coun-
tenanced the m ort, he would not shrink back if called upon fo
prove the fact. For he said when he heard this report once or
twice, he went t1 Col. Sharp'and asked him if' it were a fact,
that the child we= a negro child; and €ol. Sharp told him it
was, and that he h. | a certificate from the midwile to prove that
fact. He said he told Col. Sharp plainly he did not believe it

and that it was a shame to cast such an insinuation abroad.

Col. Sharp then requested him not to say anything about his
having said so.

I liad now meditated upon Col. Sharp’s death, so long, that I
was petfectly able to make dispassionate calculations and weigh
probable consequences, with as much ‘calmness as I would de-
termine an ordinary matter of business. I did not kill Col.
- Sharp through the phrenzy of passion. . Idone it with the fullest
and most mature deliberation ;. because, the clearest dictates of
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my judgment told me I ought to do it: and I still think so.
But after I had gotten this information, with regard to the negro
child, I did resolve to hazzard killing Col. Sharp publicly in
Frankfort; Desha being Goyernor notwithstanding.

On the one hand I considered the sitnatica of his son; whom 1
saw he would have ultimately to pardon; and thought that he
surely would not pardon his son for highway robbery and mur-
der for money, and refuse to pardon me for killing a man who had
so much deserved death at my hands. On the other hand, Sharp
had been bought over by Desha, and had resigned the office: of
Attorney General, to lead the new court faction, in the House of
Representatives. I say he had been bought over by Desha.
Possibly, he may not have been actually bought over for money;
T however, always much suspected he was directly bribed, by a
fee certain, to exert himself for the New Court jugglers for office
ust as he wonld have been feed by them, to advocate their
interests at aw. Certamn*it is, however, that he turned com.
pletely round in politics, to catch the popular breeze in Franklin
where the New Court faction held near three-fourths of the
county, and under that breeze, he sailed into the House of
Representatives, and was there hailed as the leader, the orator
and the savior of his party. Seeing him placed thus, at the
head of that party, I felt that I should encounter a tremendous
monster, if I attacked him publicly, inthat sitnation, in Frank-
fort. The Governor 2nd the whole administration, placed
all' their hopes in his eloquence, abilities and intrigue. I
feresaw thut the man who would snatch away their leader, would
encounter all the direst rage of that infuriated faction. Ve
therefore fell upon a scheme to turn the devotion of the adminis-
tration to Col. Sharp to our advantage. I say we did, T menn
my wife aud myself. A great deal has been said about my wife
goiry on her knees to me to prevail with menot to kill Col. Sharp
publicly. My wife never had to get on her knees to me {0 cn foree
her wishes. We reasoned together as intelligent beings on aH
orcasions, neither assuming any superiarity ; but each censcious
of the other’s affections and confident the ideas of each would be
duly weighed and appreciated by the other. Itherefore, afterthe
most matare deliberation, resolved if I should have to kill Col.
Sharp, in Frakfort, to do it secretly. The world must now 83y
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as it will of this determination. It is true, I regreted to have to
take this course; but it was, (Desha being Governor and Sharp
his fugleman,) the only way which presented the possibility of
my killing Sharp in Frankfort, without certainly losing my own
fife for it. And although I never regarded death much, yet I
{ did not feel that I was bound to observe any law which regulates
iy the reciprocal conduct of men of honor, in my eonduct toward
% Col. Sharp, or to risk my own life, by shooting" him publicly,
ik any more than T would have felt bound to go publicly into' an
Indian town and shoot down the savage whe had secretly crept
to my house and murdered my defenseless children. For T had
f just as much reason to expect Desha wowd listen to the dictates
of justice were to kill his chief, for worse than‘murdering my
wife, as I would have had to expect justice from the infuriated
savages, if I had shot their- chief for taking the life of® my
children.
i Itisin vain to say, the laws of soclety provide adequate redress
i for all injuries of one citizen toward another. ~ Where is the father
: of any sensibility or honorable feelinzgs, who would notinfinitely
v rather a villain would silently put hisdaughter out of the world,
than to seduce and leave her to drag out a wretclied degraded ex-
istence tenfold more painful to the father than her death? And yet
what remedy has the law provided, which would be the least
consolation to the unhappy father for the injury?’ Neither is it
dictated hy any law sanctioned by reason .and the immutable
principles of justice that then the father should add to the mis-
fortunes of his family, by publicly killing the vile destroyer of
their happiness and his, where ‘such are the circumstances sur-
rounding the villain, thattokill him publicly, would be inevitably to
forfeit the life of the person doing it. - So thatit was aconyviction
of the partiality of GoverncrDesha, and a belief that it wassane-
tioned by everylaw of justice and of right, and would beapproved
by all the just spirits in the universe, from the mecessity of the
thing, and not my wife’s getting on herknees to me, that induced
me to change my purpose, of killing Col. Sharp publicly, and to
i do it privately, after I was married. © But to do'it in Frankfort,
even in the most private manner, I foresaw would be extremely
i hazzardous. T knew that Dr. Sharp would know in a moment,
i who had killed his brother, and I knew if his own exertions, and
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that of the family would not be sufficient to revenge his death, yet
the fury of the New Court faction would be such, that, with the
wealth of the Sharp family 1 could be convicted. But I fell
upon a diversion in my favor of that very faction. This was to
give them a pretext for charging the death of their leader upor.
their political opponents. For this purpose, I at first resolved to
kil Col. Sharp on the second night of the election. This would
have raised a prodigious commotionin my favor throughout the
State, amongst the new court faction. And should have done
this but for unforseen accidents, over which I had no control.
I therefore then determined to wait calmly till the night before
the meeting of the Legislature, Meantime I prepared every
thing for setting off to Missouri as soon as I had killed him,
Never was a murder planned with such studied precantion since
the world began. I knew well it was impossible to avoid being
arrested for the murder. I therefore planned everything with a

“view to the evidence which I should be able to bring forward in

my favor. Three weeks before the meeting of the Legislature.
I made a sale of my property, and gave out publicly, on all
occasions, I should start to Missouri the very Sunday on which
I really intended-to kill Col. Sharp at night. This I continued
to say and to prepare for, up to the very Sunday precedingz. I had
my wageon, horses and everything prepared and in all my ar

k-

rangements and engagements, professed the fullest determination
to startthe next Sunday. Nay I had evenengagedpersonsto come
and assist me to load my wagon the Friday and Saturday preced-
ing. But Ihad secretly prepared me an excuse forrunning away
and delaying my removal a week.

I had husiness of consequence in Frankfort, and such as would
render it very reascnable and even necessary, I should go there
before 1 should move away. But 1 had neverintimated the least
intention to doso.  For I wished it to appearquite a casual thing
and wholly unexpected to me, that I should ever be in Erankfort
before my removal. I had even spoken to John E. Lowe,
of getting him to go to Frankfort for:me, and told him.the busi-
ness I wished done there, and on his refusal, I spoke of getting
my brother to go, as it would be impossible for meto leave home.
But on the Saturday before the Tuesday on which I intended to
start to Krankfort, I secretly procured a nrocess te be issued
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against me which if executed would unavoidably prevent my in-

tended removal for that season. On Sunday evening, Mr. Brad-
burn informed me of this process. I appeared in utter astonish-
ment, and said it would ruin me, by preventing my removal, He
said it was a mere“vexatious thing, intended only to delay me,
and were hein my place, he would go away and avoid it till y
{riends could get my family ready to start .LWM-—-I swore no, I
would stay and defend m'.evl!, for that next Sunday was the ex:
treme bound T had set to'starl to Missouri. But after a long
remonstrance on his part, that I onght to go out of the county, I
agreed to study upon the propriety of it.

Next day my father and myself, at my father’s sate, met Lowe,
who ‘was a constable. T forbade him to approach nie, and
showed him T was armed to defend myself, if he did. He liad
not the process, and when I told him of it, and spoke of my
determination to defend myself, he also advised me to go away
until my family could get out of the.county; but 1 sternly
refused, and said I should remain in the neichborhood and start the
coming Sunday, to Missouri. Thatday, however, at the earnest
solicitation' of my father and fiiends I agreed, (upon their
proffering to prepare every thing for my family to stait,) to leave
the county to avoid'the process. But Irepresented so much that
they would have to do, that they said they could not have every-
thing ready against the next Sunday, so that Sunday week was
appointed. And I then avowed my determination to come to
Warren and Edmonson, and settle up my business there, and.if I
should have time I would come also to Franklort, so as to settle
up my land affairs in this state, ere T should leaveit. Accord-
ingly on Tuesday I left home for Frankfort. I led a horse for
sale. In Bowling-Green when Capt. Payne was speaking of
buying the horse, I said if he did not buy him, I could get my
price for him inGlasgow or in Edmonson, whither [ was going.
He however, bought the horse and I came up to Edmonson and
done my business there; and thence proceeded to Frankfort. 1
arrived in Frankfort about half an hour in the night, on Sunday
night. For many miles during the day I had ridden through
excessive smoke, and had thereby gotten a violent headache. 1
tied a spoted silk bandana handkerchief round my head. When
{I gotto town Idid not take it off until T got lodgings. At the
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Mansion-Housel hailed, when a young gentleman, (Mr. Taylor,)
came to take my saddle-bags, he said he feared the chance to
accommodate me would be bad. He said they were so crowded
every bed they had would be occupied, and he feared he would
have to put me upon the floor in the dining-room where he feared
I would be disturbed by others. I told him I was somewhat
unwell, and would not like to be broken from my rest. Hethen
recommended me to Capt. Weiseger’s tavern.

At Weisewzer’s I walked into the bar-room and asked for ey
horse to be taken. Sacre, the bar-keeper, replied it will be

impossible for us to take your horse sir, we could receive you but

not your horse, I asked him if there were anyv private boarding-
house, where I could likely get in? He said Mr, Scott, at the
Penitentiary, would talke me in. - He then proposed to send my
horse toa livery stable if' 1 chose. However, said he, Mr. Scott
has a good stable, and I would recommend you to him. ~After I
had been at Mr. Scott’s some little time, T walked ont to see my
horse fed, as I had, on giving him to the servant, forbidden him
to feed him until I should go with him to see it done. - After
supper I was conducted to a bed-room. above stairs, and took out
a book, observing, to Mr. Scott, T believed T would read awhile.
So soon as he left me, I accoutered myself for the deed was
medit:u.in__{ to m-r:r).-nplish. I had i::‘\'l'\‘fd---! me with anold I‘-'!Q_gr‘d
surtout coat, which I had procured long before, and which no
hnman being could have proved was ever in my possession. I
had provided me a large butcher’s knife, several months before,
the point of which my wife had poisoned, which no one could
ever have proved I had ever owned or had in my posssssion,
When traveling in Tennessee, I had passed a clearing, where
a negro had left his old wool hat upon a stick. I took the hat,
and spliting the end of the stick left 2 silver dollar in the place
af the hat. I puton a mask of black silk, which gave me, at
five steps distance, in the clearest moonlight, the exact appear-
ance of a negro; so well had my wife constructed and fitted it
to my face. I put on two, pair of yarn socks, to preseryve my
feet in running, and to avoid my being pursued by the direction
in which I might be heard running in the dark, if I had wern
my shoes. Besides, in this way my track could not possibly
be identified anywhere. But I took my shoes, my coat, and my
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30 BREAUCHAMP'S CONFPESSIOXN

hat and hid them down near the river, where 1 could run and:
get them alter the deed should be dene. T had learned iroem a
source, which the offer of lile would scarcely wring from me,
where Col. Sharp’s house was. It was the easiest thing in the
wotld, to point it out, so that a stranger could nat mistake it.
He had simply to be told, it was the neavest house to the State-
House, for it stands only the width of the street, from the then
State-House, and almost rieht across the street {ron it.

I crept out of Mr. Scott’s house so easily, that although ihe
family were all up and passing about the house, none of them
heard me; neither would they have heard me if they nad been
in the very passage, through which I had to pass. I had found
out Col. Sharp’s house long before the ten o’clock bell rang. He
was not there when I first went. I expected he had gone to
meet his acquaintances, the members from Green River, at the
w the

Mansion-House. I sauntered up there, and could view

rooms from a distance through the doors and windows. I did
not now wear my mask, lest the patrol might notice me as @
negro, and I would have to fight them, or expose that I was
white man masked. I saw Col. Sharp at the Mansion-House.
I had habituated my mind to philosophise and reason upon the
subject of killing Col. Sharp, till I thought I could kill Tiim with
as much tranquility of feeling, as 1 could whip a servant that I
thought deserved a swhippings; but when my eye crossed lis
form all the furies af hatred seemed combined in me, so much
did my blood boil for vengeance. 1 was almost so far berelt of
my reason, at seeing him, as to put on my mask and dash righ:
snto the room, and stab him down,.in the erowd. I determined
his return . home, so soon as he left the

q

to assassinate him on
tavarn i But while 1 had walked a little way from the view of
him, he dis:zppmrod from the room 1 had left-him in, and I sup-
posed he had gone home. I thastened o, his house, but he'was
not there, T feared I might miss him, and meantime, e would
get to bed before I could see him, if: I went back to the tavern io
hunt for: him. « Wherefore determined to watch. his honse till
he should come home.: . I could now as I lurkedabout the house
see all that was going on it and could see what rooms were
1 what were: not, s well as ifT had lived about the

.OC('U’“C'D al : 1 ‘
Vel e ok Gel. Sharp holore he sshould, get

hotlce. 71 intent
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mto his house, if I could ascertain him, as he coue home T
wished Col, Sharp to know me bafore T killed him. T intended

» call to him from a little distance, ina low voice, and request

PR S oy B

lim to come to me, as he was about to enter his house.
uring him to me thus in the street alone, I intended so soon as
[ aot !mhl of hith, to whisper to him v.l;.--l was and immediately
:1I~ teh him. But while I was viewing the back part of the
lm’- e, s0 as to know well its situation u]mmd I fail any way to
get hold of Col. Sharp before he went to bed, he entered his
house and was in his chamber before 1 saw him. After a mo-
ments reflection I resolved to wait till all light was extinguised
about the house and all persons asleep, and then call the Col.
un. I was afraid Dr., S. would also have to be killed. TFor

Linew so soon as his brother should be killed, he would turn his
thonghts immediately to me. But while I was lying meditating
i1 the public square, concealed, whether to knock at the door of
Col. Sharp’s chamber or at a secret door, in a dark ailey, which
r1p'em'(1 into a room immediately communicating with the chamber,
M. Bacon came for Dr. Sharp to go home with him. This I
esteemed a very fortunate thing ; for I did not wish to kill him.
However I myself, rather inclined %o Kill ‘him for the part he
had takean in the slander about the black child, and other

1

slanders upon my wife. But my wife always be

zed for him,

(T
e J

and to her he owes his life, For she always said to see him de-

prived of his brother, whom he literally worshipped, was the
rreatest tevenge. she could possibly imagine or wish to be exer-
cised upen him.  She said, after his brother should be killed, it

would be a charity and the greatest humanity to the Doctor to
i1

wll him also.
3-fore Bacon had come for the Doctor, I had seen two men
ssing the strest and epposite Col, Shanp’s house, they met two
viry ouls. “Phey spoke tothe girls and wanted them to stop,
IS, ran away, from I’h >m, ani the men continued theéix
valking on  taward town., "When T had waited" Iohe
monchy ns I sapposed; for those who ‘had been awakened by
Bacen’s; coming for, Doct. .‘4[11-[1 I prepared to complete my
purpose, 1 resolved to knock in the alle oy forf{ear those in Bass’s
room, which as well as Col, Sharp’s door opened upon *the

poreh, might not have fallen asleep. Besides, I knew I could
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32 BEAUCHAmp'Ss OONFESSION.

sasily lure Col. Sharp quickly to me atthe back doar, by feigning
myself Covington, as Col. Sharp and the Covington’s were
extremely intimate.  And if I could only lure him back into that
alley, I would have an opportunity to let him know as he fell, by
whose hand he received the stroke, for this I wished him exceed-
ingly to know. And I would have risked a great deal to let him
know who I was. I puton my mask with this design; that
i a candle should be lit before Col. Sharp approached me, T
would keep it onand as he approached 1 would knock the candle
out with one hand and stab him with the other. But if he ap-
proached me withonta light I intended to draw down my mask as
he approached, from over my face. Forit was so constructed
and fastened on as to be easily drawn away from the face or re-
placed over it again, There was no moonlight, but the stars gave
light enouzh where withall to discern the face of an acquaint-
ance on coming near him and closely noticing his face. I drew
my dagger and proceeded to the door. 1 knocked three times,
loud and quick! Col. Sharp said, “who’s there 7 ¢ Coying-
ton” I replied. Quickly Col. Sharp’s foot was heard upon the
floor. - I saw under the door he approached without a light! I
drew my mask from my face, and immediately Col. Sharp
opened the door, 1 advanced into the room and with my left
hand I grasped his right wrist, as with an iron hand. The
violence of the grasp made Col. Sharp spring back and trying to
disengage his wrist, he said, ““what Covinglon is this?’ I re-
plied, ¢ John A. Covington, sir.” I do’nt know yon,” said
Col. Sharp. “I knew John W. Covington.” ¢ My name”
said T is John A. Covington,” and about the time I said that,
Mrs. Sharp, whom I had seen appear in the partition door as 1
entered the outer door, disappeared. She had become alarmed I
imagine, by the little scuffle Col. Sharp made when he sprang
back to get his wrist loose from my grasp. Seeing herdisappear
1 said to Col. Sharp in a tone as though I was deeply mortitied
at his not knowing me; “And did you not know me sure
enough.” ¢ Not with your handkerchief about your face,” said
Col. Sharp. For the handkerchief with which I had confined
my mask upon my forehead was still round my forehead. I then
replied in a soft conciliating persuasive tone of voice, ““Come to

the light Col. and you will know me.” And pulling him by

|
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the arm he came readily to the doar. T stepped with one foot
back upon the first step ont at the door, and still holding his
wrist with my left hand, I stripped my hat and handkerchief from
over my foreheed and head, and looked right up in Col. Sharp’s
face. He knew me the more readily I imagine, by my long
bushy curly suit of hair. He sprang back and exclaimed in the
deepest tone of astonishment, dismay, horror, and despair, 1
ever heard, “ Great God!! It’s him!!1!” And as he said that
he fell on his knees, after failing to jerk loose his wrist from my
grasp. As he fell on his knees I let go his wrist and grasped
%m by the throat and dashing him against the facing of the door,
I choked him against it to keep him from hallooing, and mut-
tered in his face, * die you villain,”’ And as [ said that, I plun-
ged the dagger to his heart. Letting him go at the moment I
stabbed him, he sprang up from his knees and endeavored to throw
his arms round my neck, saying “pray Mr. Beauchamp,” but as
he said that I struck him in the face with my left hand, and

“knocked him his full length into the room. By this time I saw

the light approaching, and dashed a little way off and put on my
mask. I then came and squatted in the ally near the door, to
hear if he should speak. His wile talked to him, but he could
not answer her.

Before T thought they could possibly have gotten word to the
Doctor, he came running in. So soon as he entered the room,
he exclaimed, ¢ great God, Beauchamp has done this! I always
expeeted it} The town was now alarmed, and the people
began to crowd the house very fast.» I still lurked about the
house to hear what would be said. And I wished some one to
see me, not in the ‘light of the candle, so that they would take
me for a negro, with my black mask on.

At length while I was endeavoring to peep in at a window,
Mis. Sharp came right upon me from without the house behind
me, and cried to the company to run there, saying she saw the
murderer; but by the time they got out of the house, I was out
of the lot, I stopped to listen if any one pursued me, and I saw
the lot full of people running down after me, whereupon I dashed
off again and went and got my coat and hat and shoes, which 1
had hid down near the river. I then went a considerable way
fusther down the river and took the old hat and coat in which I
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had done the murder, and tying them in a bundle, with a rock
sunk them in the river, I also buried the knife near the river
bank ; and then dressing in my proper ciothes and putting on m
shoes, I eame back into the town. I passed near Col. Sharp
house to hear what was saying, but all was now whisper and
silence. But I had heard and indeed secen that Col. Sharp had

died without speakine. before I left the house, which wias m¥
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softly as a_cat, so that I could not hear my own feet touch the

areatest anxiety. I then went to my room, cr

floor, havingz, slipped off my shoes at the doer. I then lit my
candle and burntamy mask, and washed my hands, which were
dirty; from. burying the knife in the ground. I then laid down
with a certain calculation of: being arrested the rext morning so
soan as. Doct. Sharp should have inquiry mace and find I was
in the town.

But ‘such were the happy feelings which pervaded me, and
the perfect resignation which T felt to the will of Heaven, having
accomplished my long settled pnrpose, that in five minutes after ]
laid down [ fell fast asleep and slept soundly, until the stirring of
the family waked me the next morning. T then listened, as a
matter of .course, for Mr. Scolt to ceme to examine me, so soon
as he should go to Col. Sharp’s and hearof Doct. Sharp’s excla-
mation that it was Beauchamp, for when Scott had lit me to bed,
the over night, I said to him, I wondered if old uncle Beau-
champ, of Washingtonwas in town? He said he did not knowand
asked me if Col. Beauchamp was an uncle of mine? 1 said he
was. Mr. Scott sald he was veryawell acquainted with Col. Beau-

champ, and asked if my name was also Beanchamp? I told him

it was. Next the news .of Col. Sharp’s deah

istened for his returnto see me. Fop that

told to Mr. Seot

=) P % e : s
pame Scolt, .now began to give me some uneasiness, as L.had

heard Col. Sharp married a Miss Scott, and T feared this mic
be a relation; as in fact he wase I listensd for bés wefurn. so

soon-as he:shenld o to Col. Sharp’s and hear that Beauchamn
. | ]

was suspected ;and sure enough, before I wasdone dressing, 1
acard, Mr. Scottseome stamping: up: stairs to my room. e ‘
opened. my door and said good morning M= Beauchamp. I
returned the salutation with a very pleasant politeness but Mr.
Scott abruptly said, “don’t you think some man went to Sharp’s
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last'night and killed him? I put on a face of great astonishment,
and replied, “great God, is it possible! what, Col. Sharp ?”’
“¥es” saidhe, “Col. Sharp is dead.” I then stood a moment,
as thouzh in a mute astonishment, and then said, «how did it
tappen sir? ina fight ? Mr. Scott said ¢ no, some stranger called
C »l.'Sharp to his door and just stabbed him dead.””. And there-
wpod-he turned about to go out of the room; but I said ¢“stay
siry for God sake tell me something about this horrid affajr.?
Stid he, ““I can tell you nothingin the world about it sir, further
than'that Ool. Sharp was called to his door, from his bed, and
stabbed down dead upon the floor.””. And with that he left the
room.: 1 did not like his abrupt manner as he entered the room
but my manner I saw quite. removed, for the moment, his sts-
picions. | L came down stairs, and being invited by Mrs. Scott
the dining room, she told me of the horrid murder. 1
told her, M.’ Seott had told me of it-and asked her, **if there

were mp: suspiéions. entertained, of who could have been the

_assassin?  She said none that she knew of. And after some
kttle Tarther conversation, I started to do. my business in the
Ragistrar’s Olfice.

This was my husiness. In April preceding, T had sent the
plats and certificates of four surveys, together with the warrant
they were made on,to the Registrar’s office. They had now, as
I supposed, lain long enough. for the patents to issue. [ had
alsawith mes another plat and eertificate, which I presanted for

ristry dn the first place, telling the rar, the warrant

filad He lonked and could find no warrant or survey in the
office, 10 my name, and after a long-s: told me there was not
a warrant or plat and certilicates ynthe ee'in my name,-" ‘1

v, therefore, at- onee, Thos. B Boanchamy, by whoem T sent
my papers,-hadnot filed them-an the olfico.  And behold, here |

flat in Reankfort; avitheut the: least shadow of bosin
[‘his frichlenad mewery much, as I knew I shetild Le arreste
iromy what Doct th m Wwhess
] ther wa T withiout berne
azrested, possibl eihg they had
no shadow of ey e more hoped

it the diversion shoulc avor, which I foresaw
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36 * pRAUOCHAMP'S CONFESSION.

and intended should arise, from suspicions of Col. Sharp hLaving
been murdered from political motives.

I knew there would be a great clamor of this kind raised, and
knowingz how weak and vain a man Doct. Sharp was, 1 had some
hope he might be carried along with the current. Whereupon, 1
hastened to Mr. Scott’s and ordered my horse to stait home.

By this time, Mr. Scott had again returned to his house. I
began immediately he entered the house, to ask him furtherques-
tions about the murder. I saw from his manner, very evidently,
he had had his suspicions revived. ' 1 asked him if Col. Sharp
had had any recent quarrel with any one whence they could
attach suspicion to that person? He said noj he had heard of
no quarrel of Col. Sharp with any one. Said he, Mr. Beau-
champ, what profession are you of? T think you said you lived
in Simpson county. Yes, I told him T lived in Simpson county ;
my profession was that of a lawyer or at least, I had studied
the law, but living in the couniry, for the last eighteen months,
I had not gone to the practice, but had continued my reading in
the country. ¢ Wellsir.” said he, ¢“are youa married man.”” Lre-
olied, T was. ¢ Who did you marry Mr. Beauchamp,” said he.
«T married Miss Ann Cooke, sir,” T replied. And at that, his
face, black as it is turned even blacker still. I had seen this
was the great point he was sent to ascertain; but still T forebore
to inquire, why he asked me that question, and passed off the
conversation as thouah it had been quite in etiquette. Nor did
1 take the least notice of his impolite inquiry what my business at
Frankfort was; but answered all his impertinent inquiries with a
polite, cheerful frankness and truth, as thouwh his questions h ad
heen a matter of course. Then taking leave of him, I set off from
his house when the Sun was about half an hour high. When I
spoke of riding, he asked me if T was not going fo stay to see
the House organized. I told him I should like very much to do
so, but that the ensuing Sunday I had appointed to start to the
Missouri, and therefore was compelled to hurry home. Besides,
I said I had some relations in Bloomfield, withwhom T was under
promise to stay all night, that night, and thercfore 1 wished
to set off early enough to get there.

1 have now left Frankfort, and W0l us pause and take a veiros-
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peet of my conduci, befere we have to view it through all the
mists of calumny, malice and misrepresentation, which have
subsequently intervened. = Forit was wholly upon circumstances,
subsequently raised and fabricated, that I have been convicted. ,
For never, in any age or country, do the pages of history record
such a complication of prejudicial tales, as were recited upon my
trial.  When I had untied the bundle of old clothes the over
night, which T'had prepared to commit the murder in, 1 had
thrown the old handkerchief they were tied in, upon my bed. It
was quite a worn out dirty old handkerchief, which not long
before I had wiped my nose on, when it had been bleeding a
little. T recollect to have noticed, when my wife was tying up

the clothes in it, that it had still the appearance of one or two I!,r
small stains of old blood onit. After I had gotten out of town i
I recollected that as I raised up in the bed that morning, 1 had |1

thrown the clothes of the bed down over this old handkerchief,
and that I had forgotten it and left it there. .
—~Reflecting there was this stain of blood onit, and knowing well
what a hobgoblin the least drop of blood would be, to 2 mind
already disposed to suspicion, as Mr. Scott’s was, T had serious
thoughts of turning back for this handkerchief after I had gone
2 mile or two. But then I thought the appearance of the hand-
kerchief would speak for itself; and demonstrate to any man of
oommon sense, that what was on it was old blood, and could not
possibly have been put there over night.  Besides, I thought if I
went back for such an old handkerchief as that, and it should
chance to have been found before I went back this really would it
look suspicious. So I continued on my journey, but not without !
a little uneasiness, about this handkerchief when I reflected how | (|
much the common mind isdisposed to distort into a “suspicious
light every circumstance against a man, when once heis accused. |
And alter Mr Scott had come back the second time, to examinel 5
what Beauchamp I was, aud confirmed the great point of hig
suspicions, that I was the Beauchamp who married” Miss Cooke,
I felt perfecily convinced I shouid, from what” Dr. Sharp na.d : i
said the over night, be pursued and arrested. All my conduct, : ‘
I

T

therefore, every thmn- I done or said, was planned with adeliberate

wew to the effect it would have in evidence. The partI had to,

periorm, wus extremely difficult indeed, not totell of the murder
2
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33 gEAUCHAMP’S CONFESSTON.

“at all, would seem suspicious. But tnen T knew how few indeed
there were, who wouid have firmness enough to tell & man’s
‘manper or what he said about a murder, just as it took place
after the man, whose manner and words he was detailing, was
aceused of the murder. For this reason, 1 resolved only to tell
of the murder where there were several present, the one to be a
check upon the other; or to persons with whom Iwas acquainted
and whom I knew to be persons of firmness. I met Miller, the
representative from my country upon the turnpike road, near
Frankfort, in company with Senator Wood and a young fop, by
the nume of Wilkins, who had became acquainted with me in
Sirapson county. I knew the youth, but had never liked his
consequential sell-important manners, and a youth of that de-
scription, was never long in discovering the sovereigncontempt 1
ever showed to all the fop and coxcomb species. Wood was a
%ittle a-head of Miller and Wilkins, and kept right on, not being
at all acquainted with me. Miller began to rally me, in the
manner of friends, before we came within twenty steps of cach
other. I nodded my head to Wilkins, and he passed right on by
me, but whether he halted after he passed me or not, I do not
know. For I had barely halted my horse, to shake hands with
Miller, e’re he hurried on, telling me he must ride on, as he
wished to get to town and hunt himself boarding by the time the
Flouse met. After he had passed me, I again checked my horse
to tell him of the murder, but he kept speaking until he was too
far to be neard any longer, and then bade we adieu, saying, he
was in a great hurry ; so that I let him go on without again
stopping him. It was made a matter ol suspicion against me,
after I was arrested that 1did not tell Miller of the murder.  But
Miller was 2 man of honor, and swore before the court of
inquiry, as the truth was, that he had hurried on past me and
employed all the time we were in speaking distancey ipa hurried
conversation on his part, and that 1 had no opportunity to tell of
the murder. But by the time of my final trial, Miller was moved
away to Alabama, and M. Wilkins, to get himsell into a little
notice, or frtom some other motive move criminal, came forward
and swore he and Miller and mysell, stopped fifteen or twenty
minutes in deliberate conversatton! and there did he employ the

court gerna; ¢ haii-an-nour, witlh a tale made W 1 ob tile vasti)
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BEAUCHAMP'S CONFESSION. 39

mysterious and suspicious circumstances of his barely having met
me and seen me nod my head to him, on my return home from
Frankfort. I merely mention this, to show with what an un-
blushing face men would stand up and swear the most barefaced
falschoods imaginable, upon my trial. For Miller is yet living
and will hear with horror that it was sworn we halted fifteen or
twenty minutes in conversation, the morning after Col. Sharp
was killed.

Soon after T passed Miller, I met a Mr. Crocket, a Mr. Pember-
ton and -another gentleman.. We all stopped in the branch te-
gether for our horses to drink, and I told them of what a horrid
murder had been committed the over night. At Vaughn’s eight
miles from Frankfort, T breakfasted, and there in the presence
of several gentleman, I told of the murder.. But all the way
down, wherever T'told of ‘the murder I .carefelly avoided telling
ore single particular about it, but expressly told everybody I
had been wnable to-learn the particulars. For although Scott
had told me everything which was known about it, yet I much
feared T-might tell some particular whieh he would deny having
told me of; I staid the first night with Joha T. Brown; of Bloom-
field. I told there of the murder. - Next morning I breakfasted
with “Col. Jas. M. Brown, of Bardstown. Therealso, I told of
the murder. That night 1 staid with an old gentleman by ths
qarie of Ferguson. And I think it a lasting encomium upon his
hionesty and truth incorruptible, that he is almost the only indi-
vidual 4vith 'whom I had any conversation whatever, on.my way
home, whom the Sharp’s did not make a witness of against me.
On the third day, in the evening, I passed what I-had all the way
dreaded, as the straits of Scylla.  This was Thomas Middleton,
the ever ready and devoted tool of the Sharp family. How to
avoidd him I knew not. . Once I thought of loitering that day,
so as to pass this monster unobserved in the night; and should
actually have done so, but for my great wish to get to Peyton
Cooke’s that night. If there had been any-bye path, I would
have gone round his plantation to avoid him; for I knew if he
got a glimpse of me, there was no getting by him without his
having something to say to me. But there was no way to escape
the straits. 'When I hove in sight, I saw that there were several
persons about the porch ; and I rowed off to the opposite side of
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40 BEAUCHAMP'S CONFESSION. k
the strait, hoping to sail through -unobserved, = But alas, I was w
deseridedand hailed! What could Ido? 1f I had pushed on W
swithout stopping, after being hailed to do so, all would have he
sworn, 1 passed there in full gallop, under whip and spur, look- &y
ing hack, evidently expecting pursuit at every step. I therefore W
thought it best to call as I was bid, and act in a natural way,
seeming in no hurry, and trust to some one present: to save me W
from Middleton’s prejudice. Robert Hendrix pressed me to go qt
into the house and take something with him. ~As I was thirsty; »
‘1 did so. While we were in the house drinking, Hendrix RE
asked me, jestingly, «if T was of kim to that Senator Beauchamp &g
who let the cat out of the wallet ;’ alluding to a story the Anties gl
had upon old Col. Beauchamp, for having divulged the secrets P
of the celebrated caucus of 1824, wherein was engendered what a8
is called the reorganizing act of that session. To turn away he
the quiz, I swore no, I was of no kinto that Senator Beauchamp. ’ i
Middleton tmrned to me and saidy; you need not deny him for "
your uncle is an honor to you. I replied, you must be one of - |
those animals we call relief men, in my country, and 5o as soon th
as I had finished my glass, I bade them good evening, and i
“mounted my horse and rode on. **~: th
And sure enough, as I feared, the Sharp’s made a most ma v
terial witness of Middletonr. He could not say I told him it f!‘
confidence, T killed Col. Sharp, because when he was told of the ti¢
murder by those in pursuit of me he stated as the truth was, that | e
had not told of the murder there at all. But he went as far as S
he could go. Ho said I denied positively that T had been to | 1°
Frankfqrt, for he said he had taken me aside and asked me, it | e
had been“to Frankfort, and that I said no, I had beenup inte B
Washington~county to see uncle Jereboam Beauchamp. And o
he swore I said 1 was related to Col. Beauchamp, whereas I am -
told, there are fifty persons in Warren and Edmonson counties, %
who have heard him state that I said I was not related to Col. &
Beauchamp. But he found this would give the whole conversa- =
tion a loose, jesting, ironical character, thereby weaken the forcs tt
of his tale abont my denying 1 had been to Frankfort, etc. For b.t
‘Middleton knew as well the relationship 1 bore to Col. Beau- It
champ, as I did myself. Many other little foolish things, Biid- :

dleton related, as baving been said by me, but which I deem un-
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BEAUCHAMP'S CONERESSION. 41

worthy of any note. He also brought forward a poor old man,
who told a long miraculous tale about my looking back ; but 2a
he was only brought forward to strengthen Middleton’s story and
as the poor old man’s hairs are hoar, and: he is near the grave, I
will forbear to record his name. :

I staid all night at Peyton Cooke’s who is a brother-to my
wife.  While at supper, I very ealmly, and asthough it had been
quite an ordinary everyday occurrerice, observed that Col. Sharp
was killed the night 1 was in Fraakfort. Mr. Cooke, his wife

and mother, were the only personsat table. I saw astonishment ,

and suspicion flash from every countenance, as thcy paused and
glanced one at the other. Now; neither niother Cooke nor Mrs.
Peyton Cooke had ever in their whole lives, heard me mention
or ever allude to the name of Col. Sharp. Neither hadthey ever
heard it mentioned: or alluded to in my presence; so profound
was Lhe silence which the ‘great delicacy of that family, had in.
spired them with upon the subject of “€ol. Sharp’s name before
me«- But they were aware of the hatred which I, as well as all
the Cooke connexion, bore Col. Sharp, and so soon as 1 said he
was murdered, I saw alarm, confusion and suspicion started in
their every countenance. Soon after thissome woman, (whoshe
was | know not) came into Mr. Cooke’s hotises ;| And I embraced
the first opportunity to request of the family to forbear any observa~
tions upon the subject of the intelligence I had given them. I
said you are all apprised I never speak of Col. Sharp; but so
extraordinary an occasion called his name fromme. This I done
to prevent that misrepresentation which 1 knew this weman who
had come in, would almost certainly make of ‘what might have:
passed between me and the family, upon the subject of Col. Sharp s
deatl, after she should see me accused of his murder.  According
to my request not another word passed in-relation ‘to ‘Col. Sharp
while I staid at 'Mr. Cooke’s. Next morning 1 breakfasted ut
Mr. Tully R. Payne's, in Bowling-Green: I knew the line of
conduct to be pursued, if 1 should stop in Bowling-Green would
be difficult. ¢ And I'would gladly have avoided stopping thete;
but I had unavoidable business with Capt Wm. R. Payne. who
lived in his brother’s family.  Capt Payne has no family. He
married an elder sister of my wife, who is dead. 1 ‘knew if I
went into Bowling-Green, and said Col. Sharp was ‘murdered
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42 'BEAUCHAMP’S CONFESSION.
\

while T was in Frankfort, the town, or many of them, wouid
want to know no more than that, to convince them I was the per-
son who had killed him. I did not care for their suspicions, for
I knew the world would always impute Col. Sharp’s death to me
atany rate; and I had no objection to be thought the murderer, pro-
vided the Sharp’s could not prove it. But I never spoke of Col.
Sharp in Bowling-Green. I had for years, before my marriage
and even after; studiously and carefully avoided speaking about
Col. Sharp, and 1 knew that if I told in Bowling-Green, that
Col. Sharp was murdered, while I was in Frankfort, everybody

would be crowding round me to ask all the particulars. 1 could
not bear the idea of people’s taiking to me about Col. Sharp.

Wherefore I told Capt. Payne of the murder, but when we arose
towalk into the roomto breakfast, where the ladies were, I said to
him, ¢ do not now speak of the intelligence I haye given you, you
know the delicate situation in which I stand toward Col. Sharp.”
This I should certainly have said, if I had not been in a day’s ride
of Frankfort when Col. Sharp was killed ; because, as Capt. Payne
testified I ever avoided any conversation in relation to Col. Sharp.
Nevertheless, this was esteemed a very suspicious circumstance,
although it was abundantly proven, I always manifested precisely
the same reserve upon the subject of Col. Sharp’s name. .
~However, let others have drawn what inferences they might,
from my conduet there, Capt. Payne gave a very precise, minute
correct and just coloring to all my manner and conduct, and to
all I said while at his brother’s. On the fourth day in the
evening, near sun sef, I got to my own house. I got home
within fifteen minutes of the exact time I had told my wife I
would get home. She was walking down the grove, upon the
road I was to come, anxiously expecting my arrival. So soon
cas I saw her thus alone, I hoisted my flag of victory. She ran
to meet me, and as I alit from my horse I gave her the flag, and
she fell prostrate on her face before me. She then burst into
tears and lifted her voice in gratitude to Heaven, that she was
revenged for all the misery a villain had brought upon her
family. Then clasping herarms about my knees, she called upon
the spirits of her father, her brothers and sister to bless me and
to intercede with a just Providence, to protect me from all harm
for the righteous deed I had done. Then rising up in alarm, she
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said, “ Are you safe my husband ?’ 1 told her I was beyond the
reach of all that mortals could do to me, because the villainwho
nad injured her, had fallen by my arm. But, said I, the avenger
of blood is after me. I thsa called a servant to take my horse,
and we walked to a ‘aore retired place, where we sat down, and
I briefly recounted to her all the circumstances of the glorious
deed. And I can truly say, I do not believe there ever lived
upon the earth, two more happy beings than we then were ;
notwithstanding I told my wife I was confident persons were
then in pursuit of me; and I even calculated they would be there
that very night. But Col. Sharp had died by my hand! This
consnled us for all misfortunes, and made us perfectly regardless
of danger. I then wentto my house and set it in order for
battle and defence. For my determination was, if Dr. Sharp
should be of the party who pursued me, I would fight them; for
no Sharp ever should have obtruded himself into my yard, with-
out being shot, while I was in it alive. Indeed I hesitated a
—great deal, whether I would not shoot one or two of those who
pursued me and then make my escape, and leave the United
States. And had those who pursued me, have come that night I
believe I should have fought them. But by next day, I had
calmly come to the resolution that T would rather die than fly
my country. And as they had no shadow of proof against me,
I resolved to go quite quietly and cheerfully forward and submit
to an investigation, should any one come for me.: The night I
zot home there was a fellow by the name of John Lowe, called
thera on some business, and staid some time, reluctant as he must
have seen, I was to enter into any conversation with him. For
I wanted to get him off as soon as possible, and while he staid,
my wife and myself were mostly retired, employedin my recitals
of all the minutes of the murder; so that we had scarcely any
thing whatever to say to Lowe. At length we got rid of him
and after T had prepared myself for battle, we went to bed.  As
T was not molested that night, my reflections had led nie to risk
all the evidence the Sharp family could get against me: little,
ah littie thinking, the whole treasury of the commomwealth
would be thrown open as a reward to villains to syear away my
life! Next evening aboui an hour by sun, » saw fourmen ride up
to my gate and call to ms (o come to the gate, 1 recoonised the
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44 BEAUCHAMP’'S CONFESSION.

face of one of them, the moment T saw him, as being a'man 1
had seen in Frankfort, on Monday morning. T was satisfied at
once, they were come to arrest me. But I walked out to them
with all the cheerfulness imaginable, and one of them asked me
if my name was Beauchamp? I said'it was. He asked me if I
had lately been to Frankfort? I told him T had just returhed from
there the preceding evening. “They all paused. ‘I saw they
were embarrassed. I had my rifle in my hand, for T was'clean-
ing and loading 1t in my yard, when they rode up. At length
ane of the more frank and sensible of the men, (William Jackson)
said to meina feeling manner, that 1 was suspected of the murder
of Col. Sharp; and as a gentleman, I was called upon and reques-
ted only, to go to Frankfort and acquit mysell. I put ona face
of great astonishment, to find myself suspected, but ‘promptly
avowed my ready determination to go immediately to Frankfort,
if there was anything said there, prejudicial to my reputation.

I then requested the gentlemen to alight, and I would have my
horse caught and go with them immediately. I then told them
explicitly, in the presence of witnesses, before they alighted from
their horses that I was there free and in my own yard, and in a
situation to defend myself; that if as they had said, I was only
called upon ag a gentleman to go forward and meet the charge, 1
would most cheerfully do so; but that I.was not, neitherwould
I or could T be taken a prisoner. That apprised by them, that
I was suspected, I'should at all events, go immediately to Frank-
fort ; but not with them, if they expected to consider me a
prisoner. They pledged their honor they had no such calcula-
tion; and therefore they were invited to the house. In ‘my
house, I had'a loaded musket, with fixed bayonet, a shot gun, a
rifle, pistols and other arms, all in excellent order. If 1 had
chosen, with these and my servants, and family I could have
defended my house from any four men, or even twenty, armed as
these ‘men were, with only pistols. But I had resolved before
they came that if I were sent for, I would go cheerfully forward,
oiless I saw some of the Sharps in the company of those who
pursued me. As therefore none of them were along, and these
men told me they only requested me as a gentleman to go for-
ward, I told them, to satisfy them of my sincerity, in saying I
would freely do so, T sent a servant inte the house, to bring out
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my arms and deliver thera to the gentlemen. Presently, they
asked for my dirk to examine its width. = This pleased me,
because I knew it would not answer the width of the wound.
They also said they had the measure of theassassins shee track,
which was found where he run across the garden. This very
much pleased me, as T imagined at once, they had gotten upon
some ether persons track. But how was I frightened, when on
measuring my shoe it did not differ in length scarcely any from
the moasure the men had! They cried out in the exulting hopes
of their then made fortune, “exactly! exactly! to an hairs
breadth ! T saw however it was not exactly the measure of my
shoe ; but still it was nearer than I could have wished it. But
as they caid the width and all the proportions of the heel were
preserved I did not fear the track, but was satisfied it would
be in my favor. When I had dressed in the clothes I wore,
when in Frankfort, and got my horse, I asked them for my dirk,
which they had been examining. The one, of them, who had
ity rather appeared disinclined to let me have it, which inflamed
me in a moment. I therefore, firmly bad him, “give me my
dirk, Sir” which, (seeing me in a passionat his hesitation,) he
quickly done. Thy hadthe handkerchief, which had been found
at Scott’s, with them but did not say a word about it to me, or
let me know they had it. I was anxious to hear whether that
had attracted any attention, from the little stain of blood from
my nose on it; but I deemed it prudent not to make any inquiry
about it, but to listen first for what had been said about it.
" Soon after we set off from my house, we met John W. Coving-
ton and his brother Isaac Covington who had accompanied those
who pursued me but had not approached the house, being men
famous for their cowardice ; and having heard in the neighbour-
hood that I was armed with a stack of guns, pistols, etc. Soon
after they got in company with us, I was asked for my dirk for
them also to lookat it. After they had kept it till we rode near
a mile, T asked them for it when lo! they said they had lost it!
I believed it to be a falsehood, at once, but as I attributed it to
their cowardice, fearing T would kill all six of them 1 coutented
myself, not doubting but what they would produce it when we
got to Frankfort. But behold, when I got to Frankfort, I fennd
they had thrown it away sure enough ard they there accused me
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48 REAUCHAMP'S CONFESSTON.

of throwing it away. And then had it put in the public' news-
papers, that it was a wide dirk, and recently ground to keen edges,
and might have made the mortal wound ; whereas Providence so
ordered it, that it should be found, to detect all this vile trick to
murder me. The dirk is now to be seen, and was exhibited in
court, and was quite a narrow bladed dirk with not the mark of
grinding on it, but of quite dull polished edges. Aund so much
did the Covington’s dread the exposure and contempt, which the
production of this dirk would bring upon them they weid and
bought it from the man who found it and would not let my father
bring it to the Court of Inquiry, but pledged their honor they
would bring it forward themselves; to the Court of Inguiry, and
then did not do it. But the lashing which my counsel, Pope,
gave such conduct before the Court of Inquiry, andthe burst of
indignation which the suppression of ' the dirk created, compelled
the Covington’s finally, to give it up.

I have given it to Col. Beauchamp, and it will remain a lasting
monument to the unfair attempts of which John W. Covington
and Isaac Covington, together with those who arrested me,re-
sorted to in order to deprive me, of my life. And if it had not
fortunately have been found, the world would have heard it de-
seribed on oath, on my trial, as it was described in the papers,
about the time of my arrest, as a wide dirk and recently ground
to keea edges! I was not suffered to hear any thing about
the handkerchief, I had left ‘at Scott’s, till I had gotten quite
away from my friends, and out of my own neighborhood and
eounty. Butwho can conceive of my consternation and horrer,
when I heard that it would be sworn it had been found at Cal.
Sharp’sdoor! = And that those who had come for me were a poot
set of devils; who had been lured on by areward! And that the
Legislature had offered a reward of 3000 dollars; the Tpustees
of the town, 1000 dollars, aud Doet. Sharp and other individuals
no one '‘knows how much more!

I now began to see the sad forebodings of what I had to
encounter. I therefore gathered from the guard all the informa-
tion the public had, in relation to this handkerchief which was
simply, that it had been found the morning after the murder at
the very door where the murder was committed! I asked the
guard to let me see it. | They done so; and behold a corner of
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it'was cut off and two holes cut in the-body of it, as though the
assassin had held it over his dirk and stabbed through it.

I was now at ‘a great loss to know whetherte corfess the
kandkerchief was mine, and tell where I had left it, er not; I
inquired for Scott’s character. I was told he would be believed
on-oath. Tthen set mymind toreflect, one whale evening, what
was best to be done, I viewed it as a scheme to revenge Col.
Sharp’s death; and I knew if none of my neighbors should
recollect the handkerchief, the reward offered would readily bribe
persons to swear to it, as being mine. The guard were a drunken
careless set of fellows, whom I could dupe ordeceive in any way.
But whether it was best to make them drunk and leave them or,
fake the Handkerchief from them, was a considerable question
with me. But as I could Jeave them, after I had taken the hand-
kerchief, or even if 1 should fail to getit, I determined to try
that experiment first. Accordingly at Bluster’s where we staid all
night, the second night I took the handkerchief and burntit. I
__doneit in this way. I slept before supper. ~But two beds were
in the room, one assigned to me, and the other, to those of the
guard who slept while the others watched me. That night we
had some bounce, and I managed by a few good jokes, upon the
excellencies of bounce, and handing it round frequently, to
make the guard all feel very heavy and sleepy. After supper I
asked them to let us look at the handkerchief. It was produced,
and after I had returned my fervent thanks to Heaven, for the
handkerchief having beenfound at Col. Sharp’s:door; and observ-
ingto some bystanders, that that handkerchief would clear me,
by leading to the detection of the really guilty, the guard put it
sway. I noticed who keptit. I ook a very particularfancy to
kim, and when he went te lie down, I even condescended to
invite him to my bed, as three had to sleep together in the guards
bed. He very gladly accepted the invitation,and when he went
to bed, he threw his coat, in the pocket of which the handker-
chief was, upon a chair at the foot of the bed. Before I:laid
down, I walked out of the reom, and as I come in, passing near
this chair, I took it in my hand, and carelessly threw the coatom
the foot of the bed. I then went to bed, but complained: of
being chilly, and asked for my cloak, and for & better fire tobe
made. Ithrew my cloak overthe bed, which quite covered up
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I BEAUCHAMP'S CONFESSION.

the coat. I then took my handkerchief from the coat pocket,
and soon after got up, still complaining of being chilly. This
gave me frequent occasion to stir the fire. A young gentleman
by the name of Anderson, (quite an intelligent, honorable young
gentleman too, I have found him,) was sitting, leaning back
against one side of the chimney-piece, so that his back was
toward the fire. I seta stick of wood up between him and the
fire, and commenced walking the floor and conversing with him,
on different subjects. ‘Carroll only, of the guard, was sitting up
with young Anderson at this time, and I had managed to get him
so drunk, that he was half his time asleep in his chair. ~At
length, when he had walked out I stepped to the fire to put on
this stick of wood. I had my handkerchief in my pantaloons
pocket. Itook up the stick of wood, and seeing Anderson was
not looking at me, I threw the handkerchief into the large fire and
threw the stick upon it. It was consumed in a moment, without
Anderson’s having the least idea or suspicion about my having
thrown anything whatever, in the fire, but the stick of wood.
For a fine piece of cotton goods, as that was, will not be- smelt
kurning when thrown into a very hot fire.

Next morning we rode to Munfordsville to breakfast. ~There
the people of the town, crowded the room to see me. The
guard had not yet all missed the handkerchief. There were at
the tavern to see me, two gentlemen of my acquaintance, Lawyer
M¢‘Farrow and Lawyer Wood. They were lamenting  the mis-
fortune which had befallen me, but I took the earliest occasion
to express the willingness with which I was going forward.
For I said, the assassin’s handkerchief was found, which would
I doubted not, under the divine direction, lead to the detection
of the guilty, and clear me. They asked where the handkerchief
was ? I said the guard had it, and asked the guard to let the
gentlemen see the handkerchief. Carroll, who had kept it the
over night, felt for it; and behold it was not in his pocket. He
examined well, and said it’s gone!” For God’s sake, I told
kim, I hoped not, and asked him to examine his pockets again.
Re done so, and said it was certainly lost. I then asked the
others to feel in their pockets, for I said I hoped they had for-
gotten who of them had kept it the preceding night. They sl
felt their pockets, but said none of them had it. They then
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began to look one at another, with ablank foolish look, that was
truly diverting ; insomuch, that some in the house actually broke
right out into laughter atthem. But I put on a very solemn
face of deepest concern, and to beg them to let us all go back
immediately, and make a" thorough search for the handkerchief.
Butthey all refused and said it was not worth while. Iremonstrated
warmly that we should go back, and at length, on their persisting
in their refusal, I said I did not believe they wanted it found.
They then began to hint their suspicions, that I had taken it,
whereupon I broke out into a torrent of abuse upon them, and
said they had thrown away my dirk, because it did not suit the
wound, and that they had now suppressed the handkerchief; be-
cause it was not mine, and would clear me ; so that if they did
not go back for the handkerchief, I would go no farther unless
the law compelled me. But we finally agreed to send back and
have search made, and we proceeded on to Frankfort. When I
got to Frankfort T found the whole country in a flame, and al-
though prejudice was at its zenith against me, without a shadow
of proof, yet things were beginning to work exactly to my wish,
and as I had planned. Amos Kendall, Editor of the Argus, and
oracle of the new court faction, had begun already to howl
piteously over Sharp, as a martyr in his country’s service, and
in the cause of the people, as he called the cause he advocated in
politics. Scarcely was Sharp buried, e’re Kendall sounded the
alarm throughout the state, that it was ¢ politics” which had
caused the murder ; and charged it plainly enough upon Sharp’s
political opponents about Frankfort. This caught the vanity
of Doct. Sharp and of Mrs. Sharp, to whose feclings it was
much more grateful, for the world to say Col. Sharp, whom they
worshipped, had fallen a martyr in his country’s cause, and that
he had been murdered for fear of his matchless abilities ; thanto
say he deserved his doom, and fell by the hands of private
revenge for a base seduction, and adultery, and falsehood, and
glander. So that they, for a time, united with the new court
factionists, and then, oh! what a piteous tune they sung over
Col. Sharp’s grave ! They eulogised him above mortality, and
sung his praises as a martyr, insomuch that one would have ex-
pected posterity would see him noted foremost amongst the
saints in the calender. Nothing offended the Sharps or the
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50 BEAUCHAMP'S CONFESSION.

young Scotts o soon as an insinuation that I was the assassin;
Nay, the Argus, soon after I got to Frankfort, came out with a
tremendous menace and threat against any such as should presume
to insinuate that the motive imputed to me had been the cause
of the holy martyr’s lamented death! This tune caught my
fancy exactly ; and while things went on thus, I began to feel
pretty safe. But soon their cuckoo note began twchange! The
people, many of them would presume to insinuate, Col. Sharp
was not so immaculate as his family would have the world
believe. The story of his baseness and dishonor toward Miss
Cooke, had too long sunk him into infamy, while he lived, for
his friends now at'a word, to acquit his memory of the charge.
And when the people of Franklin County saw the husband of
Miss Cooke charged with Col. Sharp’s murder, it rationally
brought to their minds, the stories they had heard in the last
electioneering canvas, about the negro child!  And merely be-
cause there was a feeling in the breast of every man, which told
him 1 ought to have killed Col. Sharp, the plain, candid, common-
sense sort of people in the country, rather inclined to think me
guilty, although they had no sort of proof, to raise even such a
suspicion; only looking to the motive and the justification or
cause, which I had to kill him. And then the anti-relief presses
ridiculed the idea, of Col. Sharp’s being a martyr so severely,
and hinted in such plain terms, that his family were aiming to
compromise his blood to save his fame, that the Sharp’s them-
selves, became ashamed of their hypocritical pretentions to dis-
believe my guilt. Such had been their zeal to defend me, that
Doct. Sharp and Doct. Scott utterly denied that Doct. Sharp
exclaimed “Beauchamp has done this,”” so soon as he entered
the room where his brother was dying. But it wasproven upon
‘them by their own statements, hy several of the most respectable
gentlemen in Frankfort, While the Sharps, and the new court
factionists kept up the controversy whether it was the old court
ety or myself; that had killed' Col. Sharp; I felt quite safe,
~or Lknew I could get a jury of factious, violent new court men,
&n Franklin county, who would gladly acquit me, in order the
“petter to charge the murder upon the old eourt party. While
“¥herefore, the excitement was kept up against the old court party
Ao the clearing of me, I prided myself secretlv on my foresigh
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and success, in so planning the murder, as to the time, as toraise
this diversion in my favor; and had, for 2 time, very little fear
but that I should thereby escape. And I should have done so,
but for a turn in the current of the popular excitement, which
was as unlooked for, and as unprovided for by me, as the burn-
ing of Moscow was by Bonaparte.

This was the uniting of me and the old court party together, and
niaking me their instrument! This united the Sharps, the new
court party, the old court party, in shott, all parties, and all
orders upon me, without a diversion, in my. favor, from any
quarter ! This proved fatal to me, and this alone. I hadlooked
for, and for seen and provided for everything but this. This
took me by surprise, and completely and wholly disconcerted
and ruined my every prospect. All this was done by Amos
Kendzall, and the new court leaders.. Finding an irresistible pre-
possession in the public mind to believe me guilty, upon the bare
circumstance of Sharp’s base conduct towurds my wife, they

~ufeared Omnipotent truth would shine out, and that they never
could make the world believe but what I killed him. For neither
the Sharp’s nor the leaders of the new court faction ever did,
really doubt, for a moment, but that I was guilty. Therefore
they lashed me and the old court party together, which as I was
an old court man took for a time very well, and in fact con-
victed me. '

This union of the old court party and me, the new court party
effected, by connecting me with one Patrick H. Darby who had
edited an old court paper, in Frankfort, called the ¢ Constitutiona!
Advocate.” ;

And this brings me to speak of Durby,——Poor Patrick!
The world have heard so much of the part this man has taken
in this drama, that perhaps T oughtto preface an account thereof”
with some general idea of his real character. In doing this, I’
can only write Fool! Fool! Fool! He is generally called a man
of some subtlety in all the lowerarts of basenessand meanness.’
But in his perjury against me, I have certainly found him one of
the greatest fools I ever met.with in the world to pretend to any
experience in perjurics and subornations as he may well do, if
we credit either his general characterin Tennessee, orthe certain
aformation of gentlemen of the greatest standing in that state.
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‘B2 BEAUCHANMP'S OCONFESSTON.

“For T helieve it is well established that he wasexpelled from the
bar of Tentessee, as being uaworthy to associate with the profes-
sion’! But to return to ‘the patt he hasacted in-my case. The
morning after I was brought to Frankfort, I was told that one
Patrick Darby said that he had leard me threaten to kill Col.
Sharp. I never had heard of him in my whole life except the
mere general rumor of his being expelled and literally driven
from Tennessee for his crimes and infamy. When therefore 1
teard he was going to swear against me, I readily feared he
might have been bribed to do so, by the rewards offered. Indeed
I had a hint of that sort, from a gentleman of the greatest respec-
tability in the State, the morning I got to Frankfort. DBut I was
convinced Darby had never seen me, and was therefore preparing
a plan to have Darby introduced to some other stranger for me,
and so detect, that he knew nothing about me. But while I was
meditating this plan in my mind, early in the morning; pop,
Darby obtrudes hisugly phiz, right into the room, where John
Rowan and I were shut up,in private conversation about the tale
he had fabricated! I did not know what impolite intruder this was,
but presently I heard Rowan in conversation with him, call him
Mr. Darby. At that name, Darby, I quickly turned my eye
upon him, and asked Mr. Rowan if that were the gentleman of
whom we had been speaking? He said it was. I was inflamed
in a moment, that Darby had thus defeated the plan T had been
meditating. 1 immmediately arose, and abruptly asked Mr.
Darby, “Did you ever see me before Sir? I imagine Darby
thought T had thrown off my cloak to fall upon him and beathim,
for his falsehood. He was so confused and frightened, that he
stood as mute as a statue ! T always like to look a villain in the
eye; but T could not get Darby to look at me. I placed mysell
before him and sternly bade him, ¢ Look at me sir! Did you
ever see me before?” He was nettled at my stern, contemptuous
manner, and after some hesitation, he stammered out that he had
thought he had seen me. ¢ Where now sir,” said I did you ever
see me ??  He had refused until then, to say where he had seen
me, and actually refused to tell Dr. Sharp where it was he had
seen me. He had now no shuffling with me; wherefore he said,
he had seen me at Brandensburg, on the Ohio River. I asked

him, how he knew [ was the man or how did he come to get
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inlo conversation, or get acuainted with me? He said, he was
introduced to mnie as; ¢ Lawyer Beauchamp, Jereboam Beau-
champ, nephew to Col. Beauchamp, the Senator from VYashing-
ton.” By whom, said I were you introduced to e, Sip?
“By Lawyer William' Allen, of Munfordsville.” - I then asked
hin at what time he saw me at Brandensburg. He said it was
at the sale ‘of lots there, in May preceding. I-asked him what
day the sale of lots was on; He named the day; and I then just
turned off in contempt, and said I could prove I was that day
attending court, 150 miles from Brandenshurg and that | never
had been there inmy life ; neither did I know Lawyer Allen at
all ! and thereupon I abruptly, broke off the interview, thinking
I had him safe enough for the penitentiary, if he should dare to
swear to that story. For it never once entered my fears, that
after 2 man had, in the presence of witnesses, been so explicit in
the locality and”circumstances of an interview, as Darby had
heen, even insomuch, that he described the log we stood upon;
_that then he would wholly change the whole story, and sayit

“was at another place he had seen me. But wonderful indeed,

and passing strange to tell, the next news I heard from Darby,
was, that lie had said, he was wholly mistaken, and that it had
been at my own house he had seen me, and heard me make the
threat !

i This sufficed the Sharp’s and Amos Kendall, who bore Darby
parsonal ill will, and who were very anxious to seize upon any
pretext, to connect the old court party and me together. And
forthwith, they began to clamor about Darby’s conlessing in
confidence, he had been at my house, and to ask what he had
been doingthere? And thereupon, they pinned Darby and me fast
together, in the assassination.  This gratified the vanity of the
Sharp's by still supporting the idea, of Col. Sharp’s being amar-
tyr in his country’s service, while, at the same time, it gratilied
their vengeful feelings towards me, who they all the while well
knew was the real murderer. This conuexion of Darby and
myself, also well enough suited the new court factionists, to|
whom Darby was peculiarly odious. And so well did this idea
seem to take, with the people in Franklin county, who were,
mostly violent new court men, that all Darby and myself hotﬁl
could ever do, we could never pull ourselvesapart.  Poor Darby
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B4 BEAUCHAMP’'S CONFESSION .
‘became so frightened, by clamor raised after him, about having i
been at my house, that he then denied he had ever been there. =
But it was proven upon him that he had told one or two men, he )
had been there, which made the matter a hundred times worse, ¥4
and, in a great measure, really confirmed the suspicion that he ha
had been there, and was concerned in the murder. — But he now inj
utterly denied having been at my house, and had got so ertangled: D
in his contradictory stories, as to begin to be tired of his bargain, ths
and wouldy I doubt not, at one time, have gladly given up the T
reward, if he was to get any, if he could any way safely have <h
retracted, Indeed he had been detected in so many contradic- el
tions, about where he had seen me; first saying it was at Bran- Se
denburg, and then at my house and then at Nashville, that he Na
began to express doubts, whether hewas not altogether mistaken Lo
in my being the man he had heard threaten Col. Sharp’s life; S
and to doubt whether he ever had seen me at all or not. And ant
accordingly, he told John U. Waring, explicitly, he never had 1 Tor
heard me threaten Col. Sharp’s life at all; but had only heard S
from others, that T had threatened his life. And when itowas the
demanded of him, to tell from whom he heard this, he said he tol
had heard Carrol, brother to the Governor of Tennessee, say it
that he heard me threaten to kill Col. Sharp; whereas, when we ma
sent for Carrol, he swore he never had, in his whole life, heard wh
there was such a human being, as I, in existence, till he heard I tha
was accused of Col Sharp’s murder. he
But the more Darby tried to get clear of being  witness or
- against me, the more the new court faction and the Sharp’s he s
clamored about our connexion. . Barby, therefore, came befare life
the Court of Inquiry with the broad assertion, in contradiction g
of everything he had said befre, that it was upon the Nashville wel
_ road he met me, a perfect stranger, and that I told him, I meant offe
to kill Col. Sharp! for when he became so frightened, as to lect
deny what he had said about being at my house he thenlaid the exp
venue of his story on the Nashville road, But unfortunately, e
for his story was this location of it, as was that at Brandenburg, Vers
for T had never been at Nashville in my life! ; A
| But now the gnestion was, how did I chance to bawl out to a livea
perfect stranger, apon the highway, that I in ended to kill Cay. aboy
Sharp, whose name I would scarcely suffer any man to call in sho
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BEAUCHAMP’S CONFESSION. 55

my presence. This presented a difficulty. But Darby- said ¥
wanted to employ him to bring suit against Col. Sharp, for some
lands, and negroes, and money, which he hed promised my wife
in satisfaction for the injury he had dene her! As though she
had deigned to accept an offer of pecuniary compensation for an
injury of that sort! a thing that no human being on earth, bhut
Darby, will say they ever heard a hint of, or believe ! He said
that I Rad wished him to bring the suit, and that on being told
I could not sustain it, I swore I would come to Frankfort and
shoot Col. Sharp down in the streets.  We asked him when this
conversation took place? He said it was in the first days of
September.  For he said that at that time, he was coming from
Nashville to Kentucky, and that as he passed Mr. Duncan’s
house, another called to him, and teld him there was a gentle-
man in the house, who wanted to talk with him, and that I came
out of the house, and as we walked down this way of the lafe,
toward the well, we had the conversation. But before’the tinal
trial, be had seen Duncan, who would swear and did swear, that at
thetime Darby passed there in September 1824, he was confined
to his house by sickness ; that he was very iitimately acquainted
with me, and that I avas not there, peititér had I been since my
marriage.  Wherefore Darby again-altered his story, even from
what he had sworn, and said,-he had stopped at the well, and
that I rade up, quite alotie; and on a small horse! But he said
he did not find out’'my name was Beauchamp, or what it was,
or what profession I was of, or to whom related. Neithercould
he say, positively, I was the man he heard threaten Col. Sharp’s
life ; but so-t was, he heard somebody threaten his life. |
Soon after the Court of Inquiry, Darby went to Duncan’s
well, and there found a noteh cut in a rail, which had the magic;
effect of bringing the whole conversation perfectly to his recol-
lection, He took a Lawyer Mills six miles to see it, and stated |
explieitly, to Mills, he had a distant recollection of cutting that|
identical notch in that rail, in September, 1824, while in con-
versation with me; but most unfortunately for him, Duncan
swore that rail was, at that time, and long after, in a standing
tree ! - Besides, his first stary was, that I said, in a conversation
k::nut the - election; that if Col. Sharp was elected, he never
ould take his seat in the Legislature; whese as he had now)
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“55 ‘BEAUCHANP'S CONFESSTON.

" gone back to 2 time near a year before Col. Sharp became
eandidate !
~  The morning after I got to Frankfort, the popular excitement
was at its highest rage ; in consequence of the many falsehoods
“which were basely circunlated by those who were interested in
the reward, for having arrested me. ‘That evening I was taken
before Justises Waggoner and €larke. So soon as I made the
print of my shoe in the dust, several were standing by, who
eried, “the very same, the very same, exactly ! I saw the track
in Sharp’s garden. I’Hl swear pmii,ivel} that shoe made it.”
But Georoe M. Bibb, who is @ man of stirling honor, and of
the greatest firmness, had measured the track found in Col. Sharp’s
garden, with great exactness. He had taken all its proportions,
its lenath, its breadth, the length and breadth of the heel, and every
part \eryaccura*ely, with paper. 8o soon as he applied the mea-
sure to my shoe, he pronounced, unhesitatingly, my shoe never
eould by any possibility, have made the track he measuredin Cal,
Sharp’s rnrden This track was still ‘supposed by all, to ha-the
track of the as'ﬁassm, and for this reason ; it was the only fresh
shoe track across the garden, where Mrs. Sharp had seen me run;
for I, in my socks, made no track which was noticed.” And the
iden once possessing the multitiide, that it was the' assassin’s track
every one eould see some reasonto confirmthat befief. It seemed
to them: clearly to have advanced slowly, and cautiously, making
short steps, and' to have receded rapidly_by springing strides.
And a thousand minute circumstances, concureed to prove that it
“was the assassin’s traek, particularly after the idea got abroad
that my shoe corresponded precisely with the track ; which was
put into the public newspapers. The track was at this time the
only shadow of a eircurastance, whereby any hoped ‘to be alle
Yo attach suspiciom to any particular individual.® This had
“torned out manifestly to my advantage. They were then at s
“perfeet loss, what to be at. The hwnd]‘e:»hief which Mr, Scoft
“and the Sharp’s bad fabricated upon me, was gone. No one had
seen it who could swear it was mine.  Scotthad admitted he had
~pot seen.me with sach @ one ; for as ll-e_‘,“ knew it was mine,
tl*c}, doubted not but thatthey would be able to prove it by my
neizhbors. But, on the contrary, those of my neighbors who
“had seen it, had said it was not such a one as they had eve séer
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BEAUCHAMP'S, CONFEBSION, oY

‘mé with. The suppression of the handkerchief, therefore, quite

disconcerted: all their deep laid sheme. For no ene could cast

an insinuation, that I made away with the hardkerchief, further

than upon arbitrary suspicion; and it was, in itself, unreasonable
that I could have taken it from the guard, who had sat up and
kept an eye upon me every moment, all the way up. So that
they had not now, the slightest pretence of proof against mej;
not one single circumstance, to- raise even the suspicion of my
guilt, ~ And the prosecuting Attorney, Mr. Ch. 8. Bibb. wasob-

liged to admit, before a crowded State-house, he had no evidence ;

against me. But it was suggested that possibly some evidence
might be found in the Green river country. I then arose and
stated before the assembly, that I would be far from seeking to
be: acquitted, or to leave the-place while it was suggested that
proof could. be any where had against me;: and that 1 was quite
willing to remain in custody, aad allow full time for the_friends
of the deceased to collect any evidence they might deem impor-
tant, if any existed. And hereupon the trial before the magis-
trates, was delayed ten or fifteen days, to see if any proof eould
be found against me. In the meantime, my neighborhood was
ransacked to-and fro, for days, and direct offers of bribes were
made to fwo of my neighbors, as honrest old people as God ever
made to induce them to bear false testimony against me. Still the
Sharp’s plead, that if sufficient time was allowed them they could
procure some sort of testimony against me.

But the time expired, and no shadow of evidence could yet be
found or brought, in any way. And hereupon the trial was again
delayed ten or fifteen days longer; pretendingly to search for, but
Ireally to bribe some manner of testimony, whereupon to commit
me to trial before a jury. - But Ishould have observed that a few
nights after the first postponement of my trial, Mr. Geo. M. Bibh
came to see me, according to my request in a letter of that day,

‘which letter, (as Mr. Bibb, I learn, has hed some illiberal

_imputations upon his visit to me,) I will insert, {see Ap-
ipeudix.] When Mr. Bibb, saw me, in compliance with this
letter; he told me he did know, of his own certain knowledge,
that the handkerchief found at Col. Sharp’s door, was dropped
there after daylight. For he said he had examined all the alley
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Yight, and he would swear positively, it was not there then,
whereas it had been found there long after sunrise; so that it
was absolutely demonstrated that the handkerchief was fabricated
and thrown there, after Bibb made the search. If T had have
known 1 could have proven that, before I burnt the handkerchief,
I would have confessed the handkerchief was mine, and have
161d the vile trick which had been played upon me. Indeed I
was almost ready to divulge the whole matter to Bibb, even
then and tell him I had burnt the handkerchief, for fear they
would succeed in their fabrication. But I finally concluded it
would be better to let the matter rest as it stood as they could
never prove the handkerchief was mine. :

In regard to the voice, I was solicitous to have Mrs. Sharp to
hear it, while I spoke in company-with other strangers to her;
not because I attached'any importance to the matter of the voice,
but to prevent the Sharp’s from having the pretence of Mis.
Sharp’s recognizing my voice, to harp upon. For although 1
spoke to Col. Sharp in perfectly a disguised voice, to keep him
from knowing me, yet I well knew that if ever Mrs. Sharp should
hear my voice, and be apprised at the time, it was mine she
heard, she would exclaim in a moment, and forever swear mine
was the very same voice she heard the night her husband was
murdered. And I very soon began to see they were aiming to
give her a pretence to say mine was the voice of the assassin.
For I could constantly hear she said unhesitatingly, she abso-
Tutely would know the voice of the assassin, if she should hear
it again. After I heard this, I redoubled my endeavors to have
it so arranged, some way, that Mrs. Sharp should hear my voice
with that of other strangers to her. For this purpose, I not
only wrote to Bibb, but I made similar attempts in several ways.

4 Amongst therest, I applied to Mr. Joel Scott, notwithstading
“the unfavorable impression bis conduct had made upon me, I
pressed it upon him {ill he gave me the pledge of his honor, asa
gentleman, that he would himself, arrange some place that Mrs.
Sharp should hear me speak, in company with other persons who
were strangers to her. Still I saw no arrangement of that kind
carried into effect ; I began plainly to see they were determined
o avoid it. I then came out publicly, and demanded that if
Mrs. Sharp pretended that she would know any thing about fle
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BEAUCHAMP'S CONFESSION, % 59!

assassin’s voice, and they wished any thing fair or just or horor-
able, they would let me be carried into her hearing, in company !
with other strangers to her. Nothing could arouse them to put’
eu even the appearance of a fair and honorable experiment of °
the matter. On the contrary this same Joel Scott, who had
piedged his honor to me as a gentleman; he would himself, so
arrange the thing that other strangers should converse with me,
when Mrs. Sharp should hear my voice, was the very man who
sccretly brought Mrs. Sharp to the jail, to hear me converse
with only himself and the jailor, both her intimate acquaintances;
and without lelting any one be with Mrs. Sharp, to attest
whether she discriminated my voice or not, but Dr. Sharp!
Whnat happened? Precisely what they intended should happen.
Mrs. Sharp mentioned in town that she recognized my voice
the moment she heard it, and Dr. Sharp attested that she
distinguished my voice from others immediately I spoke! Dis-
tinguished it from what other voices? From Mr. Scott’s and the

Jjailer’s, both her intimate acquaintances; either of whose voices

she would have known amongst ten thousand other voices! She
too, knowing no other person but us three was to be present!
Before the Court of Inquiry, Mrs. Sharp swore, my voice was
the same he heard call her husband to the door the night he
was assassinated. She also swore I was of precisely the figure
and stature of the man she saw in the door with her husband;
whereas she had at the jail, only seen me wrapped in a cloak,
and when questioned how she could recognize my stature, in a
cloak, she swore the assassin had a cloak on! Whereas, she
had, to Geo. M. Bibb, and many others, described the assassin,
as being a tall slim man, dressed in dark clothes. How then, if
I had been muffled in a cloak, could she have told anything, in
the dark, about my fignre or my dress? b i

By the time of the Court of Inquiry, the Sharps had become
heartily ashamed of their vain attempt to create the belief that
Col. Sharp had died a martyr in his country’s service ; and they
had not yet struck upon the scheme of making me the instru-
ment of the old conrt party, by uniting me with somebody else.
Before the Court of Inquiry therefore, Mrs. Sharp throughout her
whole testimony, spoke not one word in allusion to her ever
having thought of but one person being engaged in the assas-
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sination, But before the final trial, they had connected Darby
and me together, and lo! Mrs. Sharp had actnally seen’twomens
one with a cloak, the other without a cloak; one exactly of my
stature, and the other of course must have been Mr. Darby’s
stature! Joel Scott and her had also, by this time; coin¢ided‘in‘a
long and very pretly tale about the exact coincidence between
the-account Scott said T gave of myself at his” house, and that
which Murs. Sharp said the assassin‘gave of himself to Col. Sharp.
Scott said I told lim, I'had been * bewildered and Liclated ‘over
the river;” and that I had applied at all the great taverns in
the place, and they were so crowded I'could ot get inyso I
came to your house.” Murs. Sharp, said the assassin told: Col.
Sharp, he had been ¢ bewildered and belated'over the river,”? and
that he said to Col. Sharp, hie * had applied atall the‘great taverns
in the place, and they weré so trowded, T eould’ not-get in ;==
so 1 came to your house.” In this way, they ivent so far as’td
make me almost tell Col. Sharp my whole History, and whoul
was, when about to assassipate him ! It is-true, I' did dirvecily
let Col. Sharp know who 1 was, but it was not by any words,
but by stripping my head and discovering my face full to hisview
in the light3 and I stabbed him dead the same moment. This
too was after Mrs. Sharp had fled from the scene ;- so-that she
did not hear the exclamation which  he made on seeing who I
was. 1 told Mr. Scott I had made it later than I'expected, ‘he-
fore T got to town, in consequence of having staid to breakfast
with Capt. Hobbs, with whom I Ead ‘staid the preceding might;
and who had married a relation of mniine. ' It was: rumored,
whether true or false, I donot know, that Mrs. Sharp said, that
was precisely what the assassin told Col. Sharp. - However, she
did not swear this; and to be candid, I believe it was rumored
merely in ridicule of the story about the miraculous coincidence
of the story I told Scott, with that the assassin told Col. Sharp
in other respects; for all orders of society treated Mrs. Sharp’s
testimony with less humane allowance for her revengeful feelings
towardsme, than really, T was always disposed to make. For I
always thought it was no more than might be expected from a
‘distressed female to destroy the whole effect of her testimony, by
‘manifesting a determination to say all she could vaainst the as.
imssin, who had robbed her of her adored husbard.
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I have said the world never witnessed more misrepresentation
flowing from prejudice or worse motives, than were upon my
trial. T had ecalled myself Covington before Coi. Sharp opened
ihe door, in a disgnised voice. I knew Gen. Elijah M. Co-
vington and John W. Covington, had been for many years, Col.
Sharp’s most intimate friends; and the whole name and family
of Covingtons were warm (riends to Col. Sharp. ~ For this
reason, I called myself" Covington, to lure Col. Sharp quickly to
the door. But T 'had planned; to say as'soon as T got to Col. Sharp
that miy “name was Jolm .- Covinzton, knowine that he would
readily know: by my vaice, etc., it was none of his intimate ac-
quaintances of the Covingtons: So that by calling myself John
A. Covington, Col. Sharp would‘imagine it wassome Covington
he had forgotten, or wastiot so well dequainted with'; ‘and mean-
time I could get hold of kim and stab hin. :

I had also a farther view in this. By letting myself be heard
to call niyself the Colonel’s friend; John 4. Coviraton, it would
be readliy conjectured “the  assassn had - meant John 37 Co-
vinaton. And then my knowing John W.  Covington’s right
name so-well as 1 did,“would put-a very foicible negative
upon the idea of my being the assassin. All this I planred
with a deliberate premeditation. - And when I was arrested and
told that the assassin called himself John A. Covington, I said,
are they certain he called himself John 4. Covington? I was
told he did. I then asked if there was any John A. Covington
about Frankfort? I was told there was not ; but-itwas:supposed
the assassin meant' John W. Covington. - I said then, that ought
to convince any candid'man l:eould not be the assassin,, seeing
that I knew John W. Covington’s name as well as I knew my
own name, and could show it in @ hundred places’ on my papers
at home. This had at first 2 most powerful effect in my {avor;
and iwas a eiremmnstance so stubborn, that I doubt not it cost
much to clear it away. But this they at lenagth done, and even
turned it as one of the strongest circumstances against me! how
can we conceive this possible? It was indubitably established

that I knew John W. Covington’s name as well and familiarly .

as any man could know anothers name. But they first proved
by one Isaac Covington, that he heard me, the evening I was
arrested, call John W. Covington, Johun A Covington! thev
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also proved by a poor devil, by the name of Punch, that he heard
me the first night after I wastaken, speaking of John W. Co-
vington, eall him John A. Covington. And this that poor deyil
swore, although he was present and heard me when I told the
guard, the miscalling of the name would clear me, seeing how
well I knew John W. Covington’s name, and could show it in
a hundred places, on my papers at home. But still there was
left manifestly a contradiction and a gross absurdity in their tale
even thus discredited. For it was well established, that I was
familiarly acquainted with John W. Covington’s name, which
rendered their tale absurd and improbable ; but Mrs. Sharp had
sworn Col. Sharp told the assassin I don’t know John A. Co-
vington, I know John W. Covington, which involved a contra-
diction in their story. For if as they contended, I had thought
the name John A. Covington’s Col. Sharp would have showed
me my mistake.

They therefore proved by a man by the name of William
Bradburn, who swore he had heard me say, near a year before
Col. Sharp’s murder, that although I well knew John W. Co-
vington’s name, yet I always mistook it, and called it John A.
Clovington !

They had found great difficulty, and had been at infinite pains
t proge umgnme the possession of somefhing wherewith I could
have done the murder ; and which would suit the morfal wotma.
They at length succeeded herein, with this same Bradburn, who
swore, that a few days before I came to Frankfort, he had seen
me whetting a very large French dirk. This was not a matter
of any consequence; at least it surely cannot now be a matter
of any difference to me whether the world say I killed Col. Sharp
with a French dirk or a butcher’s knife. But such is the truth,
and I must declare it to the world, William Bradburn did not
see me whetting a French knife or any other knife, within a few
months, much'less within a few days before I came to Frankfort.

For, dying T must aver, I had not had such a knife for several
months.  And as to Bradburn’s, saying I had said I always mis-
took John W. Covington’s name ; a man might as well said,
I did not know my father’s name. = And there would really have
been quite as much show of reasonableness or probability, that
I should have mistaken my father’s name, as that [ should have
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BEAUCHAMP’S TONFESSION, 63 ‘

mistaken John W. Covington’s name. For there were not two

names in the whole world, which I had had more frequent ; nay,

as frequent occasion to write and speak, for the last eighteen

months, as the names of Gen. Covington and John W. Coving:

ton: and for this plain reason. Gen. Covington had been, ever

since I was born, the principal surveyor, and John W. Coving-

ton, the acting surveyor under him, for the whole section of

the country where I lived. They two have the largest landed

estates in all that country. For the last eighteen months, I had

Been engaged in making a connected plat of all the lands in that

section of country, to appropriate such as was vacant; Thad been

frequently within ‘that time for two, three, four, sometimes may 'y
be as far as five days, at a time, at Gen. Covington’s, engaged [
constantly, almost in the business of copying off his books, !
which were given entirely up to me; in which book the name W
of John W. Covington recurred upon almost every page! I had
written and spoken his name many thousand times within the
last righteen months ; and perhaps oftener than any other single
name in the whole world, except the name of Gen. Covington,
But I knew, that if when Colonel Sharp came to the door, and
asked what Covington I was, 1 had told him John W. Covine-
ton, he would have seen in a moment, I was an impostor. But
he would naturally have his curiosity quickly awakened, to know
what John A. Covington this was, who called himself his friend.
But they turned even this name, John A. Covington against me.
And seeing they would bear down all my evidence, T would not |
even let my father produce the copies of lands I had taken from

Gen. Covington’s office, and- my maps, and surveys, and notes :
and writing, in relation to, my land-mongering affairs, which my
father found in my house immediately after my arrest; and on

which papers I counted the name of John W. Covington in one

hundred and seventy one different places! and that too, although

many of my land papers, were, after I quit the'land speculation, b
destroyed. =

Bibb swore before the court of Inquiry, and so did John B

Harvie, (a gentleman of great firmness and of the highest cha- '
‘racter;) that the handkerchief absolutely was threwn at Col.
Sharp’s door after daylight; for they both, so soon asit was day-

light; searched every inch of the alley, and about the duor, with
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64 BEAUCHAMP’S CONFESSION.

the micest scrutiny possible, and were both enabled te swear
positively the handkerchief was not there, were it was found, by
Col. Taylor and Gen. South, near breakfast time of day. This
threw @& dark . shade of suspicion around the Sharp family,
for having fabricated the handkerchief altogether. Miss Aras
belle Scott, Doct. W. H. H. (P. Q. Z.) Scott and little John
Scott therefore swore that, about the dawn of day, John Scott
picked up the handkerchief and carried it to his brether Har-
rison Scott, and that Harrison told him it was some old negro’s
handkerchief, it was of no account, and therefore to go and throw
it precisely where he found it; which he immediately did,
And they swore, that while John had taken it to his brother
Harrison, in the room, Bibb and Harvey made the seareh in the
alley and at the door.

But this tale would not do. For they swore; John went
immediately back, and placed the handkerchief where he found
it,-and that he did not have it away from the spot more than twe
or three minutes, and that it was just after daylight when it was
thrown back there. Whereas Bibb swore positively that he went
‘back and sauntered about the alley in search, after sunrise; that
he examined all the doors, the steps and even put his hand upon
the little shrub the handkerchief was afterwards found upon, and
he knew positively it was not there then. Bibb then went to his
Jl'zu'e.a'.kt'a.:;t, and after he was gone, Col. Taylor and Gen. Seuth
found the handkerchief, thrown upon.the little shrubbery at the
door. This was near the common breakfast time of day, so that
the ab, eb, ib, ob, story of the young Scotts, as my council Sam
Q. Richardson called it very justly, was plainly proven to be a
fabrication. Indeed they plainly detected themselyes. Forwhen

hey were examined separately , Doct. Scott stated that his brother
John brought him the handkerchief and he took it in his hand
and threw it down upon the floor, saying nothing 'to John ahout
putting it back, but when John was called and examined apart from
is brother as {o the minute circumstances, he ‘swore he took it to
his brother, and his brother took it in his hand, examined it and
gave it back into his hand and told him to go and put it precisely
where he found it, for it was no account, it was some old negro’s
'nandkerehief. = Thus afterall their planning, we managed to prove
feleacly, to the full satisfaction of the audience, that the -handket.
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BEAUCHAMP’S CONFESSION, 66

chief was dropped at Col. Sharp’s door after I left town. Here
the blood on this handkerchief was the mere faded old dried Licod
which had been on it; and it in use, for I think near two weeks.
Yet many persons of very good intelligence swore it was pre-
cisely of the character, color, age and appearance in every way,
of the little stain of blood on Col. Sharp’s shirt.  But the hand-
korchief was not present to be inspected.  Many doubted its being
fresh blood, at the first; while Bibb and Harvey told the crowd
firmly, the handkerchief was positively not there at dayliglit;
and befere this tale of the young Scott’s was introduced to “clear
ub that difficulty, the idea took very well that the handker-hiel
was' all a fabrication. But when they had introduced the story
they did, to explain away that circumstance, all could then see
some way to explain away the oldappearance of the blood and
reconcile it with the idea of its being fresh blood. < Only one
man did T find who had discrimination enough to see the hand.
Kerchief through the suspicions wkich surrounded and enveloped
it, as it really was; and who had moral courage and firmness
“enough to state the real appearance the handkerchief had o his
eyes.  This was Judge Robert Trimble, Judge of the United
States Court, for the District of - Kenfucky; he told the “jury
plainly, in an impressive, common-sense way, that it was an old
dirty cross-barred handkerchief, which had some remaining
strains of old blood on it, which looked like it had probably
been used some ‘time before  to wipe the nose ‘when bleeding.
And it had been worn since that, several: days round my hand,
which T had hurt in a fall from a horse, at William Gainse’s.
It had also been rubbed in my saddlebags, all- the way to Frank-
fort, having the clothes I committed the murder in, tied upin it.

And the fabrication of the handkerchief, was ill ‘planned, and
betrayed weakness in any point of view. For besides the vest-
ing of it with the old blood on it, they had cut the corner off.
What was this'done for ? To cast the insinuation I had -cut the
corner off, ‘because my name was on it! this presupposed the
absurd idea that I had gone to the door’ with. the premeditated
design to throw my handkerchief down right wheve 1 intended

to commit & murder ! and if I threw my handkerchief there; I,

“must have done it by premeditated design, and ‘¥éfused to‘pick it
.mp when 1 had a. chance to do so; for I'lurked and: prowled '
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85 BEEAUGCGHAMP'S CONFESSION.

about tne door, as Mrs. Sharp attested, till the house was crowded
with the people of the town!

Tous nuch of the handkerchief, which was used to take my
hfe witn ~ But lLefore I quit the subject of the handkerchief, I
must do ao act of justice, to a very honest man, who has fallen
ander some censure, for his testimony in relation to the handhker-
chief. This t= Mr. Absalom Strattan. e is a neighbor to my
father ard was at my house when 1 was arrested. 1le saw the
guard have the handkerchief, and said then, he had never seen
me witn such a one. This he continued to state, and my father
nad him summoned to the Court of Inguiry, to prove that he
was a neighbor of mine, and had much intercourse with me ; and
nad pever seen me with such a handkerchief. This he came
to Fraukfort to swear and would have sworn it before the Court
of Inquiry, but he was not called. But before the final trial, 1
ima e, he had been asked, it he had ever seen any of my family
with such an one, Here conscience checked him. He had to
say, he had seen a little servant boy of mine, bring such an one
to his souse twice, when he came there for some articles, my
wife pad bought of Mrs. Strattan, He said he could not say it
‘#as the same handkerchief, but 1t was one of about the same

ppearance. He told the truth; for I doubt not my bey did
carry that very handkerchief to Strattan’s, for the articles Strat-
tan mentioned ; or if it were not the same handkerchief, it was
one of precisely the same stamp; for we had several, which came
off of the same piece.

But Strattan’s not stating this at the lirst, and being before the
Court of Inquiry, my witness, in relation to the handkerchief,
and tinally, being against me, in relation to the same handkerchief;
induced some to suppose he had been bribed ; but he was not.
His testimony was of a much more dangerous character to me
than Bradburn’s and many others, whose testimony I have ex-
posed. But God forbid I should confound the guilty with the
innocent, and abuse all, because their evidence made against me.

Young Taylor gave a true coloring to the application T made
for lodgings at the Mansion-louse, and of the reason why I did
not stay there. Sacre, Weiseger’s bar-keeper, stated what [said
to him, very unfairly before the Court of Inquiry. He said, 1
asked, so soon as I entered the public roogy, for a private room,
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and that he told me I could not have a private room, but could
have a room in company with one or two others; but that I
refused to stay unless I could get a private room ; whereas the
only reason why I did not stay at Weiseger’s tavern, was that
Sacre told me at the first word, that he could not possibly take
my horse. I said there not one word about a room, in any way.
Sacre denied telling me my harse could not be taken. He also
swore I had my head tied up with a striped cotton handkerchief,
whereas it was a spotted silk bandanna handkerchief. 1 do not
think howeyer that Sacre was bribed. Certain it is, that on the
final trial, instead of strengthening and giving 2 higher coloring
to his testimony, as almost all the other witnesses did, Sacre
grew evidently weaker, and softened down his testimony, and
hesitated much, to assert things so positively as he did on the
first trial.

The New Court faction attempted to strengthen the suspicion
of my connexion with Darby, by the testimony of the town
watch, or some street walkers, going in the character of a
patrol. One of them, Ace Carl, was one of those who were
interested in the reward; He proved by the other two, James
Downey and E. M. Crane, that they met me a little while before
the murder, going right to Darby’s office; but we examined
them separately and thereby detected them. Crane was examined
first. He swore he met me; but he said he was some fow steps
before Downey and Carl, and that he passed me without stopping
me ; but Carl and Downey stopped me, and ecalled to him to
stop, and that they questioned me and talked to me some time.
Downey swore Crane was behind him and Carl, and that when
they met me, he Downey, passed me, but after passing me, a
step or two, he stopped a moment and turned his head to look
after me, but that I made no halt, nor even turned my head; but

he said, he did not speak to me at all; neither did any of the |

others, nor did any of them, but himself make any halt. Never-
theless, he swore positively, I was the man; whereas, he wonld
not, that night, have known an ordinary acquaintance, wrapped
as he said I was, in a cloak; and only having passed him upon
the street, unless he had very closely observed him, full in tha
face. 1 was on that street that night, but it was before
11 o’clock, and I had on no cloak. He said, he met me after
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1 o’clock, wrapped in a cloak. But the most barefaced and com

pletely, detected fabrication of any, was a concerted attempt to
prove I had ‘made an attack upon Col. Sharp's house ‘near a
‘month before T killed him. For this purpose, they proved posi:
tively, by three witnesses, that in October, I put up at the Man-
sion-House, in Frankfort; and Dr. Sharp and Mrs. Sharp swore
that at that very time, some one attempted to lure Col. Sharp to
his door, lafe in the night, but on his refusing to speak or tell
who he was, Dr. Sharp got a sword and drove him away from
the house. -But this was not better planned thap the fabrication
of the handkerchief.  For when those who were to swear to
having seen me at the Mansion-House, first made the statement,
they said they found out my name, by seeing it written in the
tavern register. And knowing the register would be called for,
they had to resort to a'sham, and tore out a leaf of the register,
so as to say the name had been written on that leaf. But this
artifice detected the whole fabrication. For, by tearing out the
leaf, they confined themselves to a definite date. By their tes.
timony and the leal’ missing from the register, I must haye been
in Frankfort on the 11th, 12th, 13th of October. For the re-
gister was entire, except for these days. And they could not
have torn out a leal in the whole register, which would have
enabled me to detect their misfake, so clearly as the one they did
tear out, For on the 10th day of October I was at the Circuit
Court in Simpson County ; seen by a crowded court-yard of my
acquaintances ; and there entered into written contract of that
date with Walters Elom, attested by Lawyer Smith; which
contract is still in the hands of Mr. Smith.

On the 18th of October, I was at a public horse-race and seen
by more than a hundred acquaintances; and had a process
executed upon me that day, which I proved by the record. On
the 15th of October, I was at a public sale, seen by fifty ac-
quaintances ; and a written contract there dated of that date and
attested by two witnesses; which contract is still in being.
These three days proved the absolute impossibility of my being
in Frankfort between the 10th and 15th of Oetober ; for from
my neighborhood to Frankfort is four days good riding.

But I was able to prove where I was, every day within the
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month -of Ociober.-.. Nevertheless  throe : men swore I wag il

Frankfort-between the 10th and 14th of October. Y

at
An individual told me, ‘when I was first brought to, Frankfort,
that; Joel Scott, I might be assured, would mot scate aught . but|
what'he! belieyved to be true; although his ereat devotion to Col. |
Sharp might so far prejudice him against me, as to ‘make him
see things in rather an unfavorable light for me. _
But his high character, made me doubt the propriety of deny: |
ing his positive oath,when he swore he heard me, leave my- room,’
about the time of the murder. - For I knew people would believe
he heard me go out some time that night;-and I feared it would
make more against me to.deny it. Wherefore, I admitted I was
out; but contended Mr. Scott was mistaken in the time. of night
he heard me go out, and in the length of time; I was oat. - He
swore I went out between 1. and 3 o’clock, and he lay awake
near an‘hour, and did not hear me return; yet he admitted, he
heard no clock strike, hour eried, or any thing else, whereby he
could possibly know the' hour. T went out about 9 o’clock, I
did not return till near day. I crept out so softly, in my socks,
that-he could not possibly have heard me.. Yet he swore he
heard me open my door and descend the stairs quite cautiously,
and that I had my shoes on; and when half way down, he said
he heard me cough and spit, whereby he knew me by my voice,
from another y oung man who sleptabove stairs. He saidhealso
heard me unbolt the front door; go out and pull it too after me.
When he first went to Col. Sharp’s and heard the whisper about
Beauchamp he at once suspected I was the Beauchamp they sus-
pected. 'He intimated higs suspicions ‘and immediately- returned
home to see whether I might nothave fled as some one on horse-
back, was said to have been heard riding in full speed right from
Col. Sharp’s about the time of the murder. wrogheid]
The talk about me was only a secret whisper of suspicion at
that time, confined to the Sharp’s and Scott’s, who only suspected
me, because they felt that Col. Sharp deserved to die  at m
hands; and he and the doctor had long feared T would kill him.,
But they did not know Iwas in town till Joel Scott went to—
Col, Sharp’s next morning. 1 do suppose, Scott and the Sharpls:
did suspect, thatif I were the Beauchamp they suspected I was,
! had really gotten my horse and fledin the night; - Scott entered
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my*'rbom abruptly, and I think, started back surprised to see me
there. But'my being there, and my pleasant tranquil air when he'
irst entered the room, and my seeming astonishment, and all my
manner, when told of the murder, completely, for the moment
dispelled his suspicions; so that he went down and told Col.
Payne and Mr. Tailor, that'l was, in my room and there was
pothing to attach suspicion to me. But he presently returned
himself, to find out the great point of their secret suspicion, that
1 was the man whohad married Miss Cooke.  They were secretly
amongst themselves, satisfied [ was the assassin; but they did
not like to arrest me, merely alledging that I had married Miss
Cooke. For so much was Doct. Sharp ashamed of his in-
stantaneous suspicions of me, that in less than ap hour after the
murder, he said he did not know his brother had a personal enemy
in the world, although he had exclaimed that 1 was the man, so
soon as he entered the room where his brother was dying;
although he did not, at that time, know 1 was in the town, or in
the State; but the handkerchief, [ left at Scott’s, soon furnished
them a clue to make a ground work for their stispicions.

But here was the mystery. He stated the truth, that he saw
nothing suspicious in my appearance and my manner had, 1
doubt not, for a moment, baffled his prepossessions against me.
But still he had a secret suspicion, I was the man who had mar-
ried Miss Cooke, and if he could have known that, his suspicions
would have been coufinued; as indeed they were, when he
returned and ascertained that fact. But while I 2m compelled to

- speak truths against Mr. Scott, it gives me great pleastre to speak
in the terms of eulogium due to his amiablz lady. Al who
heard-her testimony, were animated with a lively adwiration of
her amiable candor and justice. And the simple, truthful feeling
and humane manner in which she gave in her testimouny, formed
a striking contrast, to the designing, prejudiced manner of her
husband. I felt for the situation in whichshe was placed.  But
che stated, with a candor, and modest independence which done
her sex honor, that owing to her husband’s suspicions, she
examined my room, my bed, my towel, my wash-bowl, my lire
place, and every thing about my room, and she could see nothing
but what she could readily enough account for, without suppos:
ing me guilty of the murder. She sent for her husband, and
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remonstrated against his suspicions against the stranger who had
lodged in their house, she saw nothing suspicious about him, and
was unwilling to believe he had committed such a horrid deed.

I come now to notice the treachery and double villainy of
John F. Lowe, the same man who was at my house the night I
got home from Frankfort. Soon after I was arrested, I twas
much alarmed at hearing that my sister had been walking where
she commanded a view of the road, and had scen me approach
my wife, on my return from Frankfort, with a flying flag.  This
shie had passed some jest about, in the hearing of Lowe; which,
when I heard of it, gave me great uneasiness, not because Lowe
could testify to what wiy ister had told him; but lest he should
speak of it, and so get my sister summoned to prove the fact.
My wife took grest pains to prevent Lowe from divulging this
matter ; and he promised her most solemnly, nothing should ever
wring it from him while he lived; and he was then sincere. 1
had Lowe summoned to the Court of Inquiry, to” prove my
tranquil, unsaspicious condvict the night I got home, and to prove
that the handkerchief which those who arrested me had, was
such 2 one as he had never seen about my house or with my
family.

Besides T wished to prove by him, the fact of my having
wished to hire him to come to Frankfort in my stead, to get
some patents for'my lands; but that the process which issued
ageinst me, was the cause of my leaving the neighborhood.
All this, Lowe could have sworn to with a safe conscience. And
at the first, T had no idea about getting him to swear anything
farther. But soon the aspect of affairs began to blacken arount
me. Animmense reward hung cver me; and a high hand of
oribery was carrying on agamst me. The connexion of Darby
and me togetae’; united 2ll paries ageinst mey and this too,
made Darby ase évery effort in bis power against me, in order to
prove me guilty without him. For all the world united upon
Darby and me, some saying one done it, and some that the other
done if, and many that both done it. But our mutual aim was to~
prove, the one, that the other was guilty alone, and thereby clear
nimself, T at one time, got the better of Darby, and would sooner
nave risked my chance thn his. For I succeeded to make it"
Prevail pretty general, for a time that one or the other was singly |
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79 BEAUCHAMP'S CONFESSION.

gﬁf]ty, from the absurdity of the thing, in itself, that if we had
been aceomplices; he should have turned against me. Thiswas
the point I wished to gain. For severed from him, I had now

nothing to fear. For althongh the heads of the new court faction:

were well satisfied of my guilt, and were equally well satisfied
of Darby’s innoeence, yet I knew if the question were put
simply which of the two was guilty, they would always ecry
Darby, and so far excite their faction in the country, tothe same
leaning that I could escape through a jury of that faction.

And in ary event I knew if the question was generally hetween

)

Darby’s guilt and mine, the new court faction maintaining

Darby’s guilt, and the old court party maintaining my guilt; the
Governor would side with his own new court faction, and pro-
bably weuld pardon me, on the score of dishelieving my guilt, so
that the murder would be cast upon the oppesite party. And
indeed, while the question stood between Darby and me the
Governor frequently, explicitly, said he did not believe me guilty:
He said the same motives which prompted the murder of Baker,
in order to charge it upon his son, to disgrace the family, had
caused Sharp’s death: meaning that Sharp had been killed to
put down the Governor’s faction. (Baker was the man whom
Isaac B. Desha, the Governor’s son, murdered upon the highway
for money.) But the old court party rallied round Darby so
strongly, that they soon put to the blush, the idea of anybody’s
killing Sharp for fear of his influence in politics. ~ And Darhy,
finding himself getting seriously into the narrows, had recourse
to his usual bribery and subornation. to extricate himself, All
parties were obliged to-admit Darby must have sworn falsely from
his prevarications.and contradictions. ~ He 'was the only man in
the whole world, who was found, that said he ever had heard me
threaten Col. Sharp’s life. And he toe, never having seen me
before in his life.. This seemed to be unreasonable; And he
found it necessary to correborate his own statements,and to prove
me. guilty alone.  He took out from the office twelve blank
subpeenas, without the knowledge or consent of the prosecution,
and started down into my neighborhood, for the sole purpose of
hunting up persons to: swear against me.

I trembled for the issue of this frip; for I'had been warned by
many gentleman of the first standing, in Tennessee, that with
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the reward which hung over me, I had much to fear from Darby’s
subtlety, in. all the arts of subornation. Darby went into my
neighborhood and hunted about amongst all the lower classes of
society and such as he could find fit subjects for his-purpose.
He succedeed to bring this Lowe -over 1o his purpose, -and laid
with him a very apt scheme to' ensnare me, he apprised Darby
what-my sister had told him.about the flag, and Darby sent him

i, e
o?

toany: wife, to tell her that Darby had been'to’ him and offered
him:a-hribe, to swear he had heard me threaten Col. Sharp’s life.
Accordingly, Lowe came on express te my wife, while Darbywas
in the neighborhood; and told her Darby had that day been to
his house, and >ffered him a bribe to swear he heard me threaten
to- kill:Col. Sharp, and: also had’ heard me say, in the same
conversstion, that I had spoken to Lawyer Darby to bring a suit
against Col..Sharp, Lowe offered to go immediately heforea
magistrate and-swear this but he begsed my wife to keep the thing
a:seeret, till she could write to me aboutit ; and if I wanted him
to swear any thing inthe world against Darby, more than Darby,
really did say to him, he would gladly 'swear it for me, My
wife readily believed every werd Lowe said; and did herself
prefer to keep the matter secref, till she’could write to me for
some plan, whereby to turn the affair to our greatest advantage.
She gave me a' minute detail of- all ‘that did pass between
Darby and Lowe; and added her earnest recommendation that
I ought to embrace the opportunity to prove by Lowe, whatever
I chose against Darby.

It is needless to disguise, that this occurreénce gave me great
satisfaction. For I will notdeny that I had secretly wished for
some opportunity to ensnare Darby in his subornations. I had
now caught him fairly, as I thought, and I resolved to make the
most of the opportunity, to play off his own wartare against him.
Darby was swearing' a falsehood against my:life ; and-was
suborning others to do’ the 'same.. At least;:T was plainly told,
by gentlemen well acquainted with: him, both in Tennessee ‘and
this State, that he would regort to subornation against' me: - In
one instance, I had now caught him trying to bribie Biowe: -« Lido
somewhat suspect.too, that, it was Darby who influenced a:poor
rgnorant fellow, by the name of ‘Hays, to stafeithat he ‘heard me
threaten Col. Sharp’s life. 1say, I suspect Darby menaged him;
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74 BEAUOCHAMP’S CONFESSION.

for I have no evidence of the fact. But thisis the reason of my

guspicion; Hays never heard me call Col. Sharp’s name in his
life, nor does it seem he ever saw me but once. He was
influenced by somebody. And although the Sharp’s made great
exertions to get testimony, yet I do not think they influenced
Hays, because, throughout the whole prosecution, Doct. Sharp
endeavored to maintain the position, that before the electioneer-
ing canvas, previous to Col. Sharp’s death, T had no hostility
towards him. And Hay’s threat was of an older date; so that
if the Sharp’s had prevailed with Hays, they would have made
him lay the threat after the election, or after Col. Sharp became
a candidate. But Hays’s threat just swited Darby ; so that as
the Sharp’s and Darby were the only active agents in procuring
the witnesses, except some: little petty subornations about Frank-
fort, by some of those interested in the reward. 1 have always
charged Hays’s evidence to Darby’s account. However, let him
have been influenced by whom he may, he was so extremely
ignorant, and acted in such a foolish manner, in the long-winded
story he told, that he done me much more good than harm ; in-
somuch, that he filed the whole audience, judge, jury, council
and acensed, with laughter at his tale, and we just let him speak
on till he got tired, and then let him pass without noticing him,
so far as even to cross examine him. But to return to Lowe.
All my hope was to join with the new court faction, against
Darby; but so to turn the evidence as to make Darby guilty
without me, while therefore I rejoiced to have it in my power to
nrove an attempt at subornation against Darby, by Lowe, I also
gladly embraced the opportunity to prove Darby guilty of the
murder, or at least to show by Lowe’s testimony that Darby was
the author of most of the perjuries against me, and that he was
colleagued with the reward hunters, to palm the murderon me.
in order to acquit himself. T accordingly wrote out six sheets
of paper, containing all I wished Lowe to swear to. I glossed
over ingeniously, the story Lowe had told my wife, in all its
parts, and made it more completely feasible than it. was in
Lowe’s way of telling it, although he told, I have no doubt at
all, most strictly the truth. But I also added therein many facts
for Lowe to swear to, against Darby which did not take place
between them; making out in the whole, a deep laid scheme to
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palm the murder on Darby. I had a very fortunate opportunity
to o this, by means of a fabrication, in relation to the famoue
handkerchief I have before spoken of The handkerchief was
burnt. It could therefore never rise in judgmen’ against me. If;
therefore, I could prove Darby had heen seer with it, since the
murder, it would completely fix the guilt upon bim. Lowe had
seen the handkerchief in the possession of those who arrested
me. I therefore prepared a statement for Lowe, that Darby had
showed him the very same bloody handkerchief, and another like
it precisely, and had agreed to give him a large sum te swear he
had gotten the last mentioned handkerchief of me, and that I
had another just like it, which he believed to be the one found
at Col Sharp’s door. Several other facis were written out in
plausible language, which Lowe was to swear tc against Darby.
These sheets of paper I had conveyed secretiy to my wife with
directions to her, upon the envelope, that no humar eye, save
her own, was ever to see & line of it. Fer although Lowe was
much devoted to me, and was a man who was ever sticking very
tenaciously to his honor, as he affected ; yet I had had opportu-
nities to find him, not to be 2 man of inflexible integrity. And
}a. man who has no innate feelings of honor in his own bosom,
has seldom any firmness in his friendsliip; 1or can he be bovnd
by any tie, which may be depended upon, but self interest. And
as Darby was now committed, he would make every exertion.
For these reasons, I was extremely carefui not to put myself ia
Lowe’s power. I wrote to him; but my letters were of an
honorable frank and open character; such as 1 cared not if the
whole world saw them. But still they were well calculated to
affect Lowe’s ignorant mind, and dispose him to my interest;
and my wife was then to bend thatdisposition to my interest, to
such purposes as I chose; which I conveyed to ker by a secret
method of writing, known only to ourselves. [ directed my wife
most especially, to impress Lowe throughout, wiih the belief of
my innocence; and to let him into the light of nothing whatever,
of our views; but only to instruct him simply what he was te
do. For Itold her, Lowe being now once tampered with, would
have great inducements offered him, to keep him in Darby’s
interest. And so mnuch afraid was [ of Dirby’s advantiges. as
Lowe sh .d come to court, that I di.ected mv wile to nit & er
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76 BEAUCHAMP’S CONFESSION.

let Lowe look tpon my handwriting, but to read what I had
written to him, and make him understand it well, in every part;
and then to read it senterice by sentence to him, and let himin
his own hand writine write it down as she read it. © But by'the

=~

this documient, the time of my trial was at

time my wife
hand. And she had, in her dolicate state of health, ridden

| Oad

: I
about and e: d herself so miuch'in her endeavors to save ‘me,
that she’l ecome confned to her'bed,  She was a-bed with a
very hi ‘er, worn out in“body and mind, and ‘really almost
hereft for this document. “Her

Shewas -

able fo situp in bed” surrounded onlyhy hér-faithinl “servant
atid unable to come or be brought to my trial,"as"I " had at h
fervent prayer permitted hor todo; althouphin soidelicate health

When' Lowe came 1n the . evenine. her “faver was raciie,

owint tothe violent rack "of "pain her‘head was’ in, SH&SWas

iAot 0 :'!';‘1'!.;'_'._'_[ the® document o B.ows

nable to'attend” the

u

hut the time Tor Lowe to start to Frankfort was at hand. © I by
wiitten to my wife, that'the'document was ‘of vital consequenee,
to be*sworn to by Lowe, ofhierwise I'would not go it fril,
bt would wzit to make better preparation, against the ‘darkened
storm which ‘was gathering around me.

Lowe made the most solemn protestations of devetion to “her,
and prayed to be permitted to seve me. At length my wife per-
mitted him to takethe doeument and copy it in her presence.
He earnestly prayed of my wife'to be permitted to take -the
document home with ‘him, fo read and copy all that night. It
was important ‘he should spend” every minute he could upon the
document, that he might the better understand bis part. At length
my wife permitted him to fake the document with him, upon:the
most selemn ‘oath, no human ‘eye, save liis ‘own; should see it,
and‘that he ‘wouald vethrn it wext morning. Liowe betrayed

document into the hands ‘ol *my enemies! and beheld, this was

tHe' great’ pomnttol all

time beenactingtraitor for Darby, to ensnare mey and procure

LF

from my wife somethingwhich would operate to my prejudice,

Barbvis endeavors? for Lowe had all the

and to Darby’s advanfage.
It is true, the document protured by Liowe, contained no: dis-
closures nor any admissions of a single fact against me, neither
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-did it shed the least light upon the subject of the murders It
was only & memorandum of instructions to my wife, that Lowe,
when called, would state such and. such facts, many of which
Lowe admitted were true because he knew they could be proven
to be within his knowledze. But he utterly denied all he had
told my wile, or even that he had ever seen Darby at all! he
swore my wife voluntarily aave him the document, without his
promising to swear to it! But he Joined to his mis-statement cal-
culafed to clear Darby from. the suspicion of being my accomplice.
For it did not sutfice

Darby: to prove me enilty, unless he proved

me guilt me.  For although he might never so clearly proye

me guilty, yvet the new . court party and the Sharp’s did not acauit
Y o J i 1

him any sooner therohy - foe thoe oy = visely kept a two-fold

hm any sooner therehy 0r LOey always wise y KEepl a LWOo-10ic

aim at the old court party. If 1 was innocent, said they, the
old cowrt leadersare guilty: If I was guilty, oh then said they,
I'was the meretool, instizated by the old court leaders, and Darby
was my. accomplice. . To make wme, therefore, guilty .alone,
“Lowe swore my wife had explicitly told him of my guilt, during
my: prosecution! But this.was not sufficient, it was esteemed
apossible I could have found Col. Sharp’s _house and “have
ascertained” his chamber, and selec ed (| e secret doog. I-did,
without an accomplice. Besides, the track which all s pposed
to be the track of the man Mrs. Sharp saw runacross the gaiden,
was evidently not my ftract.” This, therefore, strengthened th

suspicion that if I was guilty, I had an accomplice. -These -cir-
ciumstances, therelore, were important to Darby to be explained,
so as to make me auilty without an accomplice. . For this pur-
pase, Lowe’s testimony was adduced to prove, my wile had told
him T Tliad gotten 2 npgm:tq..accqmpany me and. show me the
house and the door! And that the track Bibb and others measured
38 mine, but That T had orr a dillerent pair of shoes' from: those

™

L svore {o.Franklort,
Lowe also siwore he heard me threaten Col. Sharp's life, about
by sivore heulieac! me-tlireatonhis life; thatissoon
~marriage. . He swore my wife, about the same time,

nasted | ill Col. Sharp, to revenge the injury
he had done her family ; and that the night before I got home
from Frankfort, she had intimated to him, that that was what I
*ame to Frankfort for; and that next night he went tomy house,
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78 BEAUCHAMP'S CONFESSION.,

for the express purpose of knowing whether I had done it a1 not;
and that I told him so plainly of it, that he became satisfied 1 had
killed him. For he said, my sistersaid 1 had brought home a
flag, and that I said yes, I had brought home a flag, a red
flag; the sign of war and victory, and I had gained the victory.
That I intended to be a Christian, for things had turned up with
me; that [ now knew there was a God who wowld give vengeance
to them to whom it was due. All this and many otlier things,
Lowe went on to state, going as far as he could to swear 1 had
plainly as I could, told him I had killed Col. Sharp, not to say
that I had told him so in direct, plain language. There were
many other witnesses summoned against me to prove, each some
unimportant trifle, which I deem unworthy of the least mention,
the more especially as I have but a few more hours which I can
possibly devote to this work; possibly I may be called off in a
few minutes, by more important duties and may be unable to re-
snme it ever again. But I cannot but avail myself of one moment
to record, to their honor, the firmness with which Richard Hol-
loway and Jesse Lane withstood the tornado of prejudice which
carried away all around them while they remained unshaken,
and gave their evidence with impartiality and truth, and inde-
pendence.

+ was most ably prosecuted by the regular prosecuting At-
tomey, Ch. S. Bibb, Daniel Mays, an hireling prosecuator, and
the Attorney-General, Jas. W. Denny. Bibb spoke in the spirit
of his native honor, humanity, and firmness, Mays prosecuted
very ably indeed, and traced me out, in all my subtle studied
precautions, for the commission of the murder, with much accu-
racy, considering the entire want of evidence, as to the frue cir-
cumstances of the transaction. But he weakened the effect, of
his effort, by betraying a rancopous prejudice against me and by
a manifest want of fairness in his argument. Denny concluded
the argument with ability, and spoke in a very fair and impartial
manner, which added much to the effect of his speech. I was
defended very ably, by Th. J. Lacy, Sam’l Q. Richardson, and
John Pope. Lacy was quite young, to speak in such a case—
He made an able, eloquent, and fearless defence, indeed, it was
an herculian effort and derived much advantage from real feeling;
a8 there had; from our much and confiden tialintercourse, grawn
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BEAUCHAMP'S CONFESSION. 70

up in his bosom a deep interest in my fate, which moved him
grestly to sympathise for me. A parting tribute to thy honor-
able, zealous, and masterly exertions Lacy, God speed thee, in
thy way to eminence and distinction, to which thy talents and
thy merit entitle thee! Richardson came into the defense at a
late stage of the case, but gave my former council very good
assistance. Pope made an eloquent and able display, and it was
one of the best defenses I ever heard. Indeed I cannot conceive
how the case could have been argued wish more ability and
judgment; nor could any man, of any legal discernment, who
heard his argument, with candor say, that the evidence was of
such a character as the law contemplates, of circumstantial
evidence, to conyict of murder. So soon as Pope left the bar,
Darby had the great bravery to attempt to strike him with his
cane. I was in the bar when Darby made the attempt to strike
Pope, in front of the door. I saw it, and oh! Almighty God,
what feelings overwhelmed my understanding! T forgot my situa-
tion, and rushed out at Darby, the jailer holding one arm, and
some of the guard the other, Darby was seized away by the
crowd, and I was held as in a vice, and conducted off by the
guard, to await the return of the jury with their verdict. But I
declare 1 do not believe for the half hour that I was left alone, I
thought five minutes about the verdict. 1 thought only of fight-
ing Darby.” The jury, after an hour’sretirement, brought in'a
verdict of guilty: which, although it was unlooked for by many
of my friends, yet it made no change in my feelings, because I
had habitually calculated upon it; and was at all times, so far
reconciled to die, after I had killed Col. Sharp, that death had
no power to daunt me. - The court first set an unusually short
time for me execution. This much vexed me, because it con-
strained me to rise to ask the extension of the time, in order
that I might be enabled to write a history of the circumstances
which led to my death. A longer time was readily granted by
the court. But now came a scene which, more than anything
I had yet met with, aroused my feelings. Such was the spirit of
fiendish revenge which existed toward my wife, that, at a venture,
it was determined to make her an accessory to the murder ! This
was true. For she was strictly guilty, and liable as an accessory
before the fact. But there was no sort of evidence, whatever,
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‘of that truth, However, just as they suspected me as prncipal
and.sadorned testimony to convict ine, so they suspected her as
aceessery, and procured {estimony to prove that. For this pur-
pose, thic same Lowe swore my wife had not only explicitly
fcanssad no guilty but had confessed that she had hersell devised
cwe plan by which Col. Sharp was assassinated ! But this fale,
aithonzh positively sworn ito by Lowe, the justices utterly dis-
regarded ; 1acomuch that they wonld not even commit her for
{vpther dnal 2pon it

2. che dud not auif my prison, nor hasshe since my conviction.
Sna proudly gorles to die with her husband .who, dies for: her.

On: grave and ope coffin, will enclose us. ; I must now close
this verv imperfeet narrative. . I regret exceedingly, 1 have, not

tinys lo write cut explicitly, all Ccl, Sharp’s conduct; and that
of his wife and Bozt. Sharp, which caused his death.  Suffice
it to reeosd, that ' Ccl. Sharp was guilty of the most base dis-
honor end ingratitud2 in the seduction of Miss Cooke, of whieh
the villainy of man is capable. When he first set out in,life, the
Cooke and Payne family and connexion, were wealthy :and in
aveat influence. He was then in poverty and obscurity. ‘They
patronisedand supported him, in his whole career, till at length toe
scale was turned. Misfortunes had followed each other ina trair
upon the Cooke family, till Col. Sharp had arisen above them i
wealth and influence.. Hehad prostrated their pride and seducec
_one whom he should haye protected as a sister, She had retired
‘with her broken-hearted mother, never again to mingle in societ.
The anguish she had felt was soothed by my love. But at-=
time before my marriage, when father, brothers and friends, by
a most strange succeszion of calamities had been swept into tne
grave, and had left her almost without one soul on:earth; save
-her dear old mother, to whom she could look for consolation and
comfort in her sorrew and.immolation; then did Col. Sharp
nave the baseness to insinnate that his. own. child was a negro’:
ahild, and that the unfortunate woman whom he knew he seducec
from the path of virtue had been the mother: of -a negro’s child.
Nay, he actually forged a certificate to prove ithat to be.a. fac:.

This, however, he:only done: to show te:his wife, to silence her
eternal clash about the wmatter. . Forhe never intended, nor ever

would, if he could have avoided it, have dared to Jet it he knowr
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BEAUCHAMP’S GONFESSION, 81

he had a certificate of that kind, for fear of his forgery being
deteeted.

But when at length, Col. Sharp ventured, after several years,
lo again aspire to regain his long lost popularity, and this dishonoz

["Miss Cooke’s seduction was held in terror over him, his wife
mu.d not avoid'lelting out' the secret of this certificate; for all
this time she fully believed Col. Sharphad actually obtained such
an'one.  Nay even alter his'death; she told several of the most
respectable citizens of Frankfort, that she then had the certificate.
and ‘had had it in her band sinee her husband’sdeath. And her
Lrether, Dr. Scott told the sanie.

But lo! how were they confounded, when Col. Beaachamp went
and got the midwile’s affidavit' that no sucn certificate had been
applied for or given by her! ‘And immediately, Uoth she ard Dr.
Scott, denied ever saying they' had sucha certilicate. But it wae
proven upen them, to the satisfaction of everybody. Still Mrs.
Sharp suffered her name'to be put to'a publication, written by
some new courl men, with a view to make an impression upon
polities, and in that, she‘acquitted Col. Sharp of the’charge of
the forging the certificate, and then actually swore all contdined
in the said publication was true! Doct. Sharp, and Mrs. Sharp
and old Mrs. Scott may consolate themselves with the reflection,
that their slanderous tongues had some slight tendency to ac-
celerate the death of one whom they all literally worshipped as
a God; and although they may, alter my death. persist in their
s.anders. yet it will not brine him, whom it has taken from them
back.” Dr. Sharp may spend his brother’s estate, ‘going, “as his
great friend Squire Lucas said ‘of him'—“crying ‘about the
country, like a fool and afraid of being killed himself,” i the
endeavor to aive color to his'base fa{sehoodc Yet it will ayail
him nothing.

I'have now to bid adteu'to this world.  To night'my beloved
wife and myself] will lie "down in each other’s arms rmd sleep
our fong sleep. I have a ‘thousand duties to my God Jm‘i to ‘my
friends, CI‘rw."fi']-'r upon me to-day:. The evenine draws to'a
close, and I wish to abstract my mind from external engagements

and that I may enjoy with my wife, the luxtry of conlemplatmg -

our” happy exit from this world, as the destined moment ap-
vroaches when we shall launch together into a Eappier scene:
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8 BEAUCHAMP’S CONFESSION,
But I must stay one moment to do an act of justice to my te
memory. After all the intrigues which had been' concerted, to w
impute Col. Sharp’s death to political motives had failed, from cl
its intrinsic absurdity ; and I had been convicted, there was still th
another effort made to establish that falsehood uponthe old court m
party, through me. - I had reason to believe Gov. Desha would in
prob=bly extend to me a pardon or respi‘e, if I would confess ev
and accuze several of his political opponents, of heing my ac- P to
complices. It was wanted that Achilles Sneed and John U.
Warring should be brought in, as having both been to my house ne
and instigated me; but mostly it was insisted upon that Warring ni
should be accused. They wished me to say, there had been a
combination amongst the leaders of the old court party, to as- in
sassinate the Governor, and several of the most prominent sup- ue
porters of his administration. I would not do this, for these th
reasons. The Governor would not secure me his pardon by mi
writing, but wished meto go to the gallows, and there, to the last thi
minute, solemnly maintaining my statements and he would then Tl
parden me, I therefore suspected his design was to deceive me, ab
and I was determined not to risk dying on the gallows, [ knew vil
such a wicked, and foolish, and absurd fabrication would not be for
believed, and would only be charged at once upon Gov. Desha or
and he would not then have the firmness to pardon me., T how- in
ever agreed to do thus far, and accordingly done it. I accused ha
Mr. Darby, (who had sworn a falsehood against me) and wl
promised, so soon as I was pardoned, to accuse anybody named, A
alledging I had before my pardon divulged it to several, but was hiy
afraid of enraging the old court party, by coming out fully. up
They therefore stated in my publication, which I prepared against sta
Darby, that that was not a full disclosure, but that the limited wl
time set for my execution, and other reasous, prevented me from it
publishing a full account of the murder at that time. I began co
several days ago, to be thoroughly convinced the Governor meant an
to deceive me. Darby, however, last week came to talk with fin
me. I had already written a full exculpation of Darby, and had e
\it lying by me on my table. But I concluded I would torment| b

the perjured wretch a little longer; and I therefore strenuously,
accused him to his face, hefore the whole audience, and so con-
tfounded and confused him, by solemn accusations, and the severe
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terms of reproach which I cast upon him, that all his friends
were greatly disconcerted by the interview.  But I have now to
close my accounts with an all-seeing God; and truth bids me tell
the world, Mr. Darby had nothing to do with Col. Sharp’s
murder. Col. Beauchamp has been censured for acting in the
intrigue with me, to accuse Darby; but I must solemnly aver he
ever, both publicly and privately, admonished and conjured me
to tell nothing on any man but what was true.

As to my dear old fatter, to those to whom he is known, it 13
needless to say anything, to preclude any suspicion of his con-
niving with me at anything false or criminal.

And after my conviction, so far from being at all instrumental
in the intrigue to get me to confess and accuse Darby he would
uever have one word to say to me upon the subject, after he heard
that I had incinuated my own guilt. Not that his affection for
me abated, or his kindness diminished; far from it. He felt
that Iwas justifiable, and he could only pity and consolate me.
The outrage and dishonor which I had revenged, was that which
above all others, he had ever admonished me to eschew, as the
vilest act of which human nature was capable. For if I have
found one man upon the earth, entitled to the name of 2 honorable
or 2 honest man, my father is that man. I have marked him
in-all the variegated scenes of adversity and prosperity, and
have seeq his soul thoroughly tried, and Justice bids me publish
when dying, this testimony of his inflexible honor and integrity.
And great Almighty God! has he deserved this fate in his son—
his favorite son, by the pious manner in which he has reared me
up? But thy ways are inscrutible, O God, to the blind under
standing of men. And the conviction of the feelings of honor,
which have caused my death, will, I hope, and doubt not, in a
measure consolate him for my early loss. Into thy hands then I
commit him thou God of justice ; who will mete ont to him the
measure thy wisdom sees mete to allot him in this world, and
finally unite him tome in a happy eternity, where that I may
meet him, my beloved mother, and brothers and sisters is ny
humble prayer, for the Redeemer’s sake.

J. 0. Ezavcuame,
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I'mave new arranged all my papers; and closed everything, preparatory to quitting
this scentofaciion, My beloved wies, forswhem, Oh! how does my sgui now melt

in affeciion ! is propasing to lie down with.me to sleep, and wake no more L Our

41T way to the un-

bodies,. and wing

spirits will, nents leave
known abode which our God may assigr !

We have a vial of laudanum, whioch mv wife with es mueh'composare;fas she ever
ss of wine; isicarefully dividing inlo equal portions, one for

shared wilh mea g
each of us.

I mark her serené aspect! I should belost in amazement and astonishment at
10! which can enable her so composedly to meet death! did T'not
so far

rth of ni

her str
find in my own feelings, thal resignotion !"Nay,* joy, whieh makes death,
[om bemg i s Hing of Terrors,’’ become the (¢ Prince of Peace,? It has becn
maintained by some, that noone ever commits suicide, when' in ossession;of theix
I But certain it is, I never prepated Lo

2 [ cannot spe

proper reason. Of
take
prepare tot
ety jafter months;of prayer, to-the Author ol iny

on, and cool reflection, than I now

+ wilh more deliberat

n article of medi
i, wi . ¢learest dictates ofmy

e o fatal portion of Lanilan

it me lodo

jud
it; to inspire my mind witha c
T him or noi, and to pardon and-f{(

it, with-
Hiz will.

nlnst
tor and mover of
5, we may
+ And we

eeled to the Omnipotent and Omni

pire and influence our minds
o sand we would e
thing, we do that, which

all minds, so ‘to dizect

discern swhatiit is His will wes
pray to Him with humility and sincerity, thas i inany
k and erring creattres. Are not all
Iy fallible indeed. “How shortdoes it
clions. He has made us weak and

things possible with God ! Our reason is gr

fall of comprehending God's attributes and perl

erring creatures. - But He is surely able to ft
Although He isa God ol Justice, whose laws He sl execute, yul has He not in his
3 of his

infinite merey and eoodness, provided a way wheteby il the Lransgress
d 4 I y 3

His law remain perfect?’ 1t may Le sad

ven, and e

greatures may be o

then, to me; & iransgression and a § ity. So

» they would notfbe sins ot all,- For can 1 believe
of darkness,

, Wille sy eves cpen tolis.cn

are a1l the sing ofmea, otle
that the countless thousands of human s awlio have my the

and in the countiries of superstition, fallen deluded wvietims to i zeal, 111 1ke
‘e lo be the true Gods, are now for il

hey really beliey el jgnorance
ity God, I'stould for one moment Bear such

service ol beings
in eternal misery? Forbnl it Almi;
LU0 will e stid the whole:human family are by nature under

ir trans-

a horrid thoug
condemnation:  For thatvery reason, was there mode an expiation for i

h have

gressions wherewith they actually do transgress; but not lessior them

I, and have consequently never lransgressed o law they

not known geod from &
know not of. For aré infants dying from the mother’s breast condemn’d to ever-
lasting misery? Oh! man! do nol the merey of thy God solmuch injnstice: For
His mercy has prov de
whole, and yet they be saved! In like

jed an expistion for them, whereby His law can be

manner, the sins of thase who krowingly

transgress, may and will be expiated aud pardoned, provided they God in «R

acoeptable manner, that is with humility I sincapity of honrs 4 Y A0S
o4
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BEAUCHAMP’S GONFESSION, 25

fnrgive (hem through the merits of the Redeemer. 'In suicide, it may be said the
13 no time left for prayer and contrition of heart. ' Not so witli'us. 'We ‘will prav
while we Jift the fatal cup to our lips. We ‘will not cease to pray—we will d:»
with our lips slill quivering with fervent, heart-fell prayer to an Almighiy, ‘and -
loving and & merciful God, to take us to himself, and forgive us allour sins 1. r
his cricified Son's sake.  We will die, ‘calling ‘on ‘the name of that Jesus, whos:

_Wwe have both once m our lives reviled, to infercede with the Fatker for his sai.
to pardon us, although the chief of sinners. And oes God measure the length of
prayer? Oh! how my soul leaps out'to my blessed Jesus, when Iread his reply to the
thiel upon the cross. “I believe in‘the Lord Jesus Clirist—help thou. oh God, mine
unbelief,”” and forgive my mulliplied transgressions. We now will trust to that
God, who is infinitely meveiful, to Torgive that sin, which even in praying we coms
mit. I lay down my pen to proy, and praying tuke the futui portion.

My beloved wife and myself have now drank the poison which will shorilv “sunc
8 into eternity.. We can neither of us; refrain from singing with joy, so nappy o
our anticipations, for the scene we will ére momning’s sun awake in. ;

QGreat God, forgive and Liess us, and take us to thyself, for the sake of thy hlesse
Bon. Amen.  Amen. J. 0. Bzivcname,

Taurspay Nioar, 10 O’cLock, Jurr, 61a 1826,

After we had taken the laudanum last ‘night, at about 12 o’clock, we:remained
““om' our knees some hourts, at psayer, and then laid down and placed our bodies in
the fond embrace, in which we wished them interred, - My wife laid her head on my
right atm, with whichI encircled her body, andtied my right hand, to her left, upon
her hosom. We also, as we laid side by side, confined our bodies together with an
Fandkercniel; to prevent the struggles of death from severing us. Thus, we lay in
prayer for houts, in thie momentary expectation of dropping to sleep, to awake in
eternity. Some little after dayliglit, [ received a hope:and a confidence that my
sins were furgiven, and in the joy of my soul I shouted-aloud and awakened zll
within my reach, and {old them what the blessed Redeemer had done for me. [
have ever since longed and prayed how soon it woold please God to take me to
himself. But strange o man, near twenty fonr hours have elapsed, without the
laudanum kaving had any effect ! - My wife puked about 2 o’clock this evening, and
soon after took a smaller pertion of laudanumi. We took each, originally, the half
of a wvml full, which was obout two incheslong, and as latge as a common sized
man’s thumb, My wile is now asleep; [ hope to wake no more in this world! 1
have no more laudanum to take, and shall await the disposition whieh the Lord
chooses to make of my body; content, that if I cannol die with my wife, I shall ers
this'time to-morrow, be in the realms of eternal felicity.

J. O. Beavcaaump.

Fripay Mornire, 7 O’crock.

Between 12 and 2 o’clock, I am by the sentence of the law to be exeented. I
i1 hope, even ’till late last nigh!, that ere now, the landanum we had taken, the
aight before, would have ended our calamitigs, But it has had no effect on me,
and my wife has aguin despaired of its killing her, notwithstanding she repeated
the dose. She is so (earful of being left alive, with no means fo take her life; and
no one to eonsolate and strengthen her after my death, that I have, at her affec-
tionate prayer, consented to juin with her, and each of us stab ovrselyvesi I have
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86 BEAUGRAMP’S CORFESSION.

Ell this morning, since midnight, tried to prevail with her, to await the will of heaven
without making any further attempts upon herself; but it isall fruitless. She says,
1 shall never be buried, tillshe is also dead, even if sheis to starve herself to death.
And she so fears the miseries, which the misguided sympathy of her friends may
bring upon her, after my death, by attempting to thwart her purpose; that she has
meked my heatt to an acquiescence in her will. For I had last night, resolved to
make no farther attempts upon myseif. But Oh! I pity her so much! [ can refuse
ber viothing she prays of me to do. I eommit myself, for forgiveness, upon the
mercy of an all merciful God, who has forgiven all the sins of my life, and will for-
give, 1 hope, this last wicked act, that carries me Lo eternity.
J. 0. Beavcnaur,

DIRECTIONS FOR OUR BURIAL.

e do not wish our faces uncovered, after we are shrouded, particularly aftey
weare removed to Bloomfield. We wish to be placed with my wife’s head on my
r ht arm, and that confined round upon her bosom.

J. 0. Beaucmanr,

As some-insinuations have been cast upon John M'Intosh, for a supposed agency
‘e intrigue, to get me to accuse the old court party—I deem it due to him, to
it any such a notion; on the contrary, he ever, from the day of my convic-

e frankly, nothing would avail me toward getting a pardon, and there-

A me, 1 had no motive but to tell the truth, which do, let it bear hard

Aud g + say this of John M’Intosh, that although he was
| Tigidly faithful w alth, yet he was even honorable, magnanimous
b and humane to me, and to 1, especially during the time she immured hersel!

with me in my dnngeon.
J. 0. BEAucHAMP,

The Jollowing scroll was written a few minuyes before he was taken out to be executed, and
while kis wife was in the agonies of death,

Your husband is dying happy! for you I lived, for youI die! I hear you groan! 1
fope you may yet be recovered—If you are, live till it is God’s will to take you, and
prepare to meet me in a better world !

Your dying husband,

J. O. BEAucHANMP,

My beloved 'Anna;
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:'." BEAUCOHAMP’S CONFESSION.
" Dimes writton by J. O, Beauchamp, while in jail, upon his bemg aronsed
rom sleep by a vision of lis wile’s spirit.

[~

Daughter of grief! thy spirit moves,
In every whistling wind that roves
Across my prison gratess—
It bids my soul majestic bear.!
And with its sister spirit soar,
Aloft to heaven’s gales

In visions brightiit hovers round,

And whispers the-delightful sound,
Peace to thy tronbled mind.

What tho' unfeeling worlds unite,

To vent on you their venomed spite; _
Thy Anna’s heart is kind. : v

Andeft when visions thus arouse,
The husband’s fordest hopes, he vows,
*'T'is no delusive dream;
And springing from bis bed of grief,
He finds a moment’s sweet 1elief;
. . Then rownd him honors gleam!

But still when calm reflection reigns,
My soul its sweet repose regains,
In this trivmpkant thought;
That in thy Jove tho’ absent far,
My soul has laid ‘in store for her,
~ o - liiss its sweetest dranght

Then rave ye angty storms of fate!
Spit on your vilest blasts of hate!
Ye perjured Teptile worms!
| Disdaining aught to yield—my soul,;
! Shall gladly fly this earthly goal,
Safe to my Anna’s arms,

Por oh! the thought! triumphant, prond
*The soul within itself can shroud,
The purpose of the brave;
Secure of ‘her, the dear one’s love,
. For whom he dies_and mounis above.
Misforfunes highest wave! '

He cries—prisons for ¢lay! the etherial soul,
Triumphant soars! disdains ‘eontrel;
And mocks a perjured world!
The shaft ’s too late! he soars too high!
He rides in triumph through the sky,
" Not caring whence *twas hurled.

Nor even let a gloom, a sigh,
Be tead in thy angelic eye;
Be finn as him yon lovel
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‘Q?‘ﬁ:‘ BEAUCHAMP’S CONFESSION,

pirsia For wlierefore pine to meet this spellt
; Y Hua not God ordeved all things weld?
_3.7;'&- We'll meet in Heaven above. T

And oh, thetrivmph of that day,

Were worlh Len thowsad forms of clay,
o dirtis but o reign.t”

Then cease thy troul ied soul from grief!

Be this thy suul’s sure sweel relief,
(What mored)==our aim e goin!

i

Whis was written before my eonvietion, and while my wife was absent fromme.
J. 0. BEAUCHAMP.

Verses addressed by Mase Any Beaceouswre, to her husband J. O, Brivomaxr,
few: davs beflure their death.
Bpirit divine ! thow more than' morial man!
Wil thee to die, and T thy fond embirace,
Fullilk the wise, the universal plan,
Ordained by fate for-all the himan race;

To soar with thee; to that unknown abude,
To which my fathes's spivit early fled;
When earth-burn cares can never more eorrode
« T sweet Tepose of the illustrious dead.

To meet my sister's spirit and my brolhers, orave,
Who'lelt me early to the storms of fate;

And paved'the wny and strewed with flowers my graves
Oh! 1kese are joys, whiclrearth eannot ereate!

There shallimy-father’s spirit grasp thy hand,

And call thee son; and bless thee as his child;
‘While round assemble all {pe kindred hand,

As onee on earth, while Heaven and fortune smiled.

The brave shall bless thee for thy righleous deeds;
But chief for that which man’s unrigliteous laws,
Account a crime! Bul pine not; though thou needs,

Must die; thou aiest i HOnor's cavse.

Thy spirit feels ils worth; a villaims-heart,
Thy dagger pierced; he perished by thy handl
Accused of Heaven; he felt the bitler smart,
Assigned to guill by Heaven’s high command.

i On earth, be trembling, lived in guilt and fears
Of thy avenging hand, and when at léngth,
To his appalled soul thy form appears,
A glimpse disarms him of an infant’s strengths




BEAQYOUHAMP*S CONFEBBION, @y

§ s
. His cowara hearl did faint €’re yet thy hand, '
Had pointed {o his breast the powsoned steel,
On tip-t0e rising then 1 see thee stand,

Then bursts thy wrath as bursls Jeve’svengeful thunderpea!.

|
L]

* And perished by that stoke the vilest heard,
That ever human blood dig nnimate-

And having finished well thy moble part,
Content we'll meet the mystic will of fate,

Vernos addressed by Mre. Axn Beavcaame, a few hours before their death. )
Lord of my bosom'’s love to thee, /
T'o thee I poux this tribute of my parting breath,
+ Thy worth, thy honor and thy love shell be,
My soul’s sweel theme *ill I am cold in death

Haxd 15 thy falé and dark the ways
Of Him whoge will decrees thy bright career,
Should end in cruel death, ere half thy days
Were numbered; losing all life's prospéct dear.
Thy soul was biave; at honor's call,

Thy life-blood flowed {ree asthe aitof Heuen‘ i‘
Thy stern deczee a coward fiend should {a'l, w §
His heart was pierced as with a peal of thunder riven, j

Stern was thy purpose; fate obey'a

Thy zighteous will, and o thy hand resigned
T'he wreich ; prostrateand gasping as he laid,

The approving voice of Heavea caim'd thy mind,

But dire arose in wrath a venal band
And rais’d the warcry; upstart the hiveling clan
And marshalled all the force of allthe land, |
Agains* one lone; oppressed, unfeiended man,

Unmoved he met the direst spite of hell, f
And mock’d ' their perjury, and scorued to yield,
Aught of his {ranquil air; and happier fell
Than ever hero did on glory's field,

B e e

And wedded 1o his side my form shall lie,
Encireled by his arm; for naught but fate,

Could move my stubborn purpose, free to die
With all m soul ealls.dear, or good, or great.
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sEmUCHAMP'S GONFESSION.

Lines sadressed o Mrs. Francis R. Hawkins, by Mns. Bravewamr, in jail, &

w

day before the death of her and her husband.

Phoa soul of sympathetic mould..
Faw do thy virtues chann my mind.

More precious than the purest gold,
Thy heatt so feeling and s0 kind.

«Tis not thy wines or dainties rare,
Thy lemonades, or choicest fruits,

Thy richest cakes or roses fair,
Which so my woe-tied soul recruits

No, "tis not these, itis the tear;
Of virtue shed for virtue wronged,
Which lights the dying heart of care,
With poison'd darts of mahce thron~ &

And oh! the solace to the heart,
©f woman dying for her lord,

Who dies beneath the cruel smart,
Of perjur’d hatreds’ poison’d sword

To feel the angelic pity's touwch,
Of sister woman’s kindly hand;

W hose independent soul is such,
As basest malice to withstand.

This soothes the dying hour of one,
Whose lot has been the sport of fate,

Whose ills on earth this day are done,
To Heaven’s high behest await.

That you may enjoy the Heavenly boon, =
To thy pure worth so justly due;

Is pray'd by one whose life’s bright moon,.
Is darkened quick by night's black hue

For since it is the will of fate,

My all on earth should die for mg,
T glory that our blessed estate,

One coffin and one grave shell be,

This night by God’s all ruling will,
We close omr eyes to wake no morey
But hope our vital spirits still,
Wil happy live and God adores

i




EAUCHAMP'S CONRESSION. 91

LfHE DEATH SCENE.—By J. 0. Beaucamr.

——

A death-scene rushes o’er my sight}
My heated brain recalls it back,
In horrid vision of the night.
I oft retrace my bloody track!

I see appear the hated form,
Whose coward heart I doomed fo bleedl
Quick flashes o’er my mind the storm,
Which drives me to ithe bloody deed,

I grasped him with an iron hand!
Appall’d he struggles in amaze!

But when unmasked, he seea me stand,
He sees his death-torch instant blaze

Fainting he knelt for life in vain,
He knew not pity’s softest glow

He could the heart of virtue gain,
And break it with dishonor's blow.

I pause—but short as lightning’s gleam,
The flash of pity throngh my soul;
For quick the burning vengeful stream,

Pervades my heart with due control.

Then hurling round in sportive wreath,
I dash his coward trembling form,
And plung'd the poison’d shaft of death
W hich calm’d my heart’s black vengeful stonm.

For raising high the deep dy’d steel,
With fiendly laugh I mock his groan,

And bid him, writhing, dying feel,
The retribute of victue’s groan.

Then ceas’d the raging fire to burn,
Which passing time had only faan'd,
And to my grateful wife returned,
I triumph in ker just command.

Well satisfied; we dare our fate,
Content to meet its direst spite,

And bow us to the good and great,
The fount of justice, life and light,
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BEAUCHAMP CONFESSION
EPITAPH,

To be engraved on the Tombstone of Mg. and Mrs. Beavenaur; written by
Muis. Beauciane.

Entomb’d below in.others' arms,
The Husband and the Wile repose,

Safe from life’s never ending storms,
And safe from all their cruel foes,

A child of evil fate she lived,

A villain’s wiles her peace had cross’d,
The husband of her heart revived

The happiness:she Jong had lost.

He heard her tale of matchizss woe,
And burning for revenge he rose,
And laid her base seducer low,
And struck dismay to virlue’s foes.

Reader! if honor's gencrous blood
E’er warmed thy breast, here drop a tear,
And let the sympathetic flood, MW
Deep in thy mind its traces bear.

A father or a-mother thou,
Thy daughter view in griel’s despair;
Then turn:and see the villain low,
And here letfall’ the gratef {ear.

A ‘brother or asister thou!
Dishonor’d see thy sister dear!

Then turn and-sée the villain:low;
And herelet fall the grateful tear.

Daughler of virtue: moist thy tear,
This tomb of love and honor claim
cr thy defense the-husband here,
haid downin youth his life and fame.

His wife disdained a ofe forlorn,
Withoul her heart’s lov'd, honor'd Lora;
Then reader, here their fortunes mourn,
Who Jor theirlove; theirlife blood pourd
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: Novzupzr 21, 1828, =

Drear Srr.—It has been with some difficulty I have stemmed the torrent of publie
opinion, to the contrary, and presumed to hope that you were not so far prepossessed
against me, as not at least, to suspend an expression of your opinion, till you should
hear what can be alledzed against me, on oath. You are well aware that in cases
like the present, we musl ever expect immense exaggerations. "In this case, pecu-
liarly, ‘it is not surprising if there shonld prevail a degree of popular prejudice, not
warranted by the circumstances nf suspicion raised against the first aceused of the
murder of & man so highly and justly esteemed as was Col. Sharp.

I speak not to ainan on whose feclings I could expect to work, much less bias
his judgement, by any protestations about innocence, or appeals to his humanity,
for the oppressions thereof, which I could make. Your opinion will be fovnded in
the circumstances which will be brought against me, independently of anything I
can say. Butsir, if, as 1 have been told is the case; (though I have found many
things which have been told me, since [ was in prison, were not to be relied upon,;
but if, I say, you, with some other gentlemen of greatest standing and influence at
the bar, feel foo great a respect for the memory aud family of your unfortunate
fiiend, to defend any one suspected (however slightly,) of his murder; T do _hope
you will, nevertheless, tell me, as a man of candor, on what your opinion against
me, and that of the thinking part of the community, is based. You have heard
much, I doubt not, about my having threatened the life of Col. Sharp. I make no
proiestations. Butsir, T can simply say, you will be convinced all these rumors have
arisen in the vain imagination and conjectures of fools. You see what is printed
from mere vague rumor, about my dirk being a wide one—please see the scabbard
in-the possession of Mr. Carl—thatit was recently ground sharp—ask Mr. Jackson.
That my shoe fits the track in the garden of Col, Sharp, happily vou measured thaj
trask. Then, that I left my room that night;—856000 sel as a price upon my life.—
Gircumstances are unfortunately such, as that I am advised it is not permitted in
wisdom for me to acccunt for as yet. Bul this much it has pleased the Almighty,
that I should be now permitied lo do—to explain and prove to the satisfaction of
gentlemen of your candor and impartiality, that it was a motive different from that
of a murderer, which led me frommy room thatnight. About this, 1 wish particularly
to see you. I have no hope to stop, for a considerable time, the current of popular
prejudice against me. I might as well expect {o stop, at a word, the motion of the
earth, Time and reflection must be allowed for the popular clamor to cease; unless
indeed it should so please {he Omniscient one, that the murderer should be breught
quickly to light.

Some gentleman have honored me with a promise of seeing me after supper—3ar.
Crittenden amongst them, T wish to see you first. I have endeavored, as far as
any man could do, since I was told I was unhappily suspected, that my conduel
should be frank and unreserved. I wish it still to be so. But there may be fabris
cations eo unfavorable to me, as to render it prudent I should be circumspgct in
gonie things, in which my own wish would be, to be perfectly unreserved and cum-
municative to everybody—to gentlemen whose good opinion 1 value more than life
especially. J. O. Brauvcmaxr,

. .. Mo Geo, M, Bibb, Esq. =
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04 BEAUCHAMP'S CONFESSIUN.

Fraxgrort Jars, Mar 19 1826,
My dear and beloved Mother,

I feel it a duty which I owe the fond mother that bore me, to write you, consol-
ing and comforting you under the afflicting dispensation of Providence, which in my
fate is visited upon ycu. Be comforted and cheered, thou best of mothers! The
ways of God are just, although our blind understandings may not see the reason of
them.

Although I fall at an early day, we will meet in Heaven. As to the way in
which [ come to my end, you should not think of that, to make my loss the more af-
flicting. Death is death, in any shape. It is only with me, as with my dear sister,
that. I leave the world at an early stage of life. Only consider it as though I had
died a natural death, or fallenin my country’s defense.

I am perfectly reconciled to die, and have been for many months.

It has a long time seemed to me, T was called hence by the will'of my creator, 2. ¢
I was willing to obey the wise decree.

Man cannot see as God seeth, and it is oniy our part to resign ourselves to his
righteous will. You will fear I will leave the world with my sins upon my head,
Not so my dear mother, oz there is nothing in the internal witness in sur own
bosoms: It is-impossible I can feel as I do, at the thought of meeting my God and
Saviour, and yet meet their frowns; you know I have been wicked, my mother, but
however high the monntain of my sins, yet in the blood of my Saviour they are all
blotted out. If I had died in war, or by accident suddenly, you would certainly
have more 1o grieve and fear for me about, than as it is; for then I should have
gone without warning orpreparation; but now I am forwarned of my death, and
the sinner never yet, however vile, fell at the feet of our blessed Saviour for mercy,
without obtaining it. And it is no difference, with a merciful God, in what situa-
tion the humble supplicant is placed, so the hearl be sincere at his feet for.mercy,
through the atoning blood of the Messiah, was never heard too late, since his glori-
ous mediation for fallen man.

Then rest satisfied, my beloyved mother, that you will meet your unfortunate son
in the realms of immortal happiness. And when we look forward to Heaven, we
should not regaxd whatan unfeeling world can say of us. It is not the part nf a
Christian to care for persecution, or regard the manner in which our God chooses {0
call us from this world. How many glorious martyrs died, what blind man calls
ghameful death? How many, whose crimes or misfortunes have brought them to
death by the laws of man, were thereby warned of their approaching departure, and
now shine the brightest witnesses of the merey of God, and the blessed influence of
his Son, in behalf of all such as call on the Father, in his name. Nor does lie
reject a penitent poor sinner, because he was disgracefully put to death. He also,
even himself, was shamefully crucified. Not, however, for his own transgressions
of the law of God or man, but that all just such poor sinners as I, who would call
on his name, to the Father of mercies for forgiveness, might find mercy. Then
grieve for me my mother, as a mother for ason, but he comforted, in the reflection
you will soon meet me in immortal glory. I know and feel you have prayed for me
of late, as you ever did, and your prayers have not been unheard or unanswered,
Then farewell; should we not meet in time, your pilgrimage nn earth will soon be
o’er and that you will join me in Heaven is the prayer of your dying son.

J. 0. BEAUCHAMP,
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BEAUCHAMP'S CONFESSION, o5

Mar, 21, 1826,
¢ My dear Mother,—I cannot send the letter I had written without informing you

that my friends are trying several ways by which they confidentiy hope to save me
‘yet.. Irestitatl in the hands of God, and pray to be resigned to his will.

;;‘Youl' affectionate Son, J. O: BEavucuamr,

| =

" My dear Mother—I cannot let my father go without writing you a few lines to
comfort you, by telling you how happy I am at the thought of death. Three Mi-
nisters have been to sing and pray with me to-day. But all thatman eould do would
not save me were I not to look to my blessed Saviour, in him is my Salvation, I
bless God for anything which He lias been the means of making me see my situa+
tion before my death.

I am willing to die; my dear Mother, but I am willing my friends may make every
efforl {o the last for their own sakes, not for mine. If you wish to tell me fare-
well my dear Mother, I should be grateful to you to do so. Perhaps oo you would
feel better satisfied to implore the Governor yourself, to let me live. But my father
is waiting and I must, for this time bid you farewell. Your affectionate Son,

J. 0. BEavcEANMP.

t  Fripay Evexixe, Juxe 16, 1820.

My beloved Mother,—I should have written to you before this time but I ex-
pected daily to see some of the family here,

1 am so much afraid you will give way to your grief for me, I know not what to
do. But I am comforted by the reflection, you ever had strength of mind, and my
father tells me you exert a Chrislian fortitude in this case. I was very glad to ses
he acted so much like a Christian, resigned to the will of God. My dear Mother, i
is our duty to be resigned to the will of God, as much as any other duty.

How do I remain as I now am, as tranquil and as happy as any mau in the world?
Because I pray to God to give me strength to doso. I have thoughl the matterover
and over about you and Mrs. Cooke's coming up here to see me. I did at first,
wish, il it was your de-ire, for you to do so; but my dear mother, when I think i
would only be to tell ms farewell, I really do not think I could stand it. I have
borne up, and pray that God every day to strengthen me. I shall be enabled to bear
my lot like a Christian, but if you come, I shall not. You can have uo satisfaction
in talking with me, in my situation. - You could only tell me farewell, and pray for
me. That you can do, without distressing your own mind, and mine, by the tender
scene of perting. How could T bear this. You ought not to wish to put such a trial
upon me. It would almost kill us both I know, and the scene would distress your
feelings as long as-you live.

Post 5-lisfied, yon have done your duly by me, in life, before your God, and now
commit me into his hands. I must pray and beseech yon, my dear Mother, not to
come, as [ have also wished Mrs. Cooke not to come. . So may God Almighty bless
you, is the prayer of your loving Son,

J. O. BEAucHAMP.

Saturpay EveNixe, Jusz 18.
‘wmee I wrote my lotier to you, my father has come to town, and will take it and
Mrs. Cooke’s both. I was to have sent them by mail. I am yery much rejoiced to
hear, you still bear up under my fate like a Christian, :
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9 BEAUCHAMP’S CONFESSION,

! My father tells me you will not feel satisfied without seeing me, Oh, let mo
pray you, in God’s name, to resign me to His will. Nothing on_earth could grisve
my heart like faking a last farewell of you, in this sitnation. In fact I know I
could not support it, and I therefore, could not expect you could. Every day'l pray
more and more for that cup to pass if it be God’s will. Let me pray you to think
how could I bear the parting with you? Itis my prayer, therefore my dear Mother,
for you to resign me into the hands of the God of Heaven, and content youmc].l'
with praying to Him to have mercy on me; and this is the prayer of your Son,

. J. 0, BEAUCHMP.
Sunpay Evenina, Juxe, 19,

My dear little Brothers and Sisters.—Yon cannot help grieving for me; but L
write Lhis to comfort}uu Children, you have heard your good parents tell us always
Lthere was a God, Yes, children, there iz a great and good God, who sees every-
thing you do, and knows every thought that comes into your minds. There is a
Heaven and a Hell, and 50 soon as you die, you will go to remain forever and ever,
in one of these two places, 1If you do not read the Bible and pray, and get religion,
you will be banished into everlasting Hell, where you will never see your parcnts
or me, but lie in forment to all eternity, But the Bible will teach you, and youw.
parenls too, how you can get to Heaven,

I have been wicked. You all saw me rush into sin and wickedness; and many
times grieved my parenis. Sce what it has brought me to.

Do you then, walk not in my ways; but obey your parents above all things in this
world. Read the Bible and it will tell you, **Children obey your parents.”” ‘And
although I shall never see you any more in this vorld, yet I'hope’l ghall, in abetter
world, ‘There is but one way you can ever get to see me sgain. T hat is, to obey
your parents, read the Bible, and ‘pray to God lo give you religion. Tn'this way,
you will meet me n Heaven.

" Asher, above all things, govern your temper towards your dearold father'espe-
cially.  Think what he has'to bear for his children.  Is thére one fathér in-tha
world, who deserves o much from his children, as our father does? Not on euwrth
I fully believe. Then do not disgrace yourself'in yow setiling outin'life, by stubs
bornness toward him.  How much' more manly is il for a son, even as long as he
lives, to be humble to his father. "You have good sense, and I hope will consider
your character worth more than all the wealth of India.. You havea good character
now; try to preserve it through life, and prepare to meet me in Heaven,

'| Malinda, Milly, Jane, vou have been loving sisters to me. Be comforted, and be
dutiful to your parents, and loving, one toward another.

‘William, you have a good temper. and aredutiful to your father and meother. Tt
gives me pleasure to know this. It does you honor William, and will hear you
vy 'when wealth and everything else in the world wonld fail. Your father is poo,
has to work hard foraliving. How will the world praise you to see you assist him
cheerfally and with industry.

" Milton, you are a good boy, but when you are mad, you give way too much to
your passion. I am afraid, you will min yoursel sometime, when in a passion.
That is all I have to fear from you; for you are an industrious good boy, all but
jour tash temper. Gen. Francis Marion is my dear little brother. I love him very
much. IfI had have lived, I should haveé {aken you to live with me. But your
good old father will teach you betfer what is right, than I could, You are an ex«
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1
ocllent boy Marion. You are industrious and dutiful to your father, 1 hope
you will ever be so.

So now farewell, for this time, my dear brothers and sisters all. I shall write
{0 you all again, and till I'do that, may God Almighty bless you all, is the prayerof
your brother.

JEREBOAM.

Fraxroar Jam, Juny 4th, 1826.

My dear Mother,—My brothers and sisters, I now bid you all a last fond leave,
and take my happy exit from this world of trouble, to the realms of immortal happi-
ness, I leave you all in the handsof that Ged, before whom I shall ina few hours
gtand. May he bless, and profect, and prosper you all in this world; and so influ-
gnce you by his holy spirit, that you. may seek and find salvation, through our
blessed Saviour, is the dying prayer of your son and brother. Oh! be kind and af-
{ectionate one to another, and comfort my dear and afflicted, and worthy cld father,
whom, Oh! may Almighty God bless, as he deserves to be blessed: do mot grieve for
me, Oh, I rejaice! I long to Ay from Lhis world of sorrow and tribulation, 1o the pre~
gence of my blessed Redeemer. May God Almighty bless you all, is the dying
prayer of your affectionate and happy, JEREBOAM.

I po crariey that the foregoing Narative, is 2 true copy taken from, and printed
from the original manuserips, written by J. O. BrAvcaaur, 25 presented to meby
Mr. G. S. Haumonv; some frifling and unimportant alteralions excepied—soms
hard expressions against individuals were softened or expunged. Inwitness where-

af, 1 subscribe, etc.
Win, H. Hormzs.
Novemser 26, 1826.
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ACCOUNT OF HIS EXECUTION,
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ATan early hour the drums were heard beating, and men in uniform were seen
mingling among the citizens. As the day advunced, people eame pouring in from
the country in every direction, filling up Lthe streets; while an imercasing multitude
Was seen surrounding the gallows, which was erected on a hill near the pluce,

About the hour of 10 o'clock, the jailer went out, and no person was lefs with
them, but Mr. Edrington, the guard. A feeble candle gave only light which shone
in this fearful abode. The éntrance was through a trap door above, in whieh stood
a ladder.

Beauchamp and his wife freguently conversed together in a whisper. At length,
she requested Mr. Edringlon to siep out for a minute, alledging that she wished to
getup. He ascended the ladder, and shut the trap door pattly down, bus kept ina
position where he could see what was Boing on bLelow. There was no movement,
and he was in the act of relurning, when Mis. Beauchamp said, ** don't come yet,””
*0 yes, come down,’ said Bea uchamp. He then said his wife was too weak to sit
up, and expressed a wish that she should leave the jail, and the gnard urged Lhe
same thing. She saii she would not leave her husband, until he was taken out for
execution. She then spoke of suicide, and declared she would not survive her
bushand. About half past 11, the guard observed them whispering together, for
some lime. At lengtl Beauchamp said aloud, my dear, you aré not strong enough
togetup., “Yes, I am’ said she throwing her arms up, see how strong 1 am;* she
requested her husbhand to give hermore of the toddy; he told her she would drink
too Mmuch, but she would not be put off. He then gave it to her, and she drank.
Bhe then requested the guard to step out immediately, pretending great urgency; he
®gain went up the ladder, turned the trap door partly down, and was stepping round
into a position where he could observed them, when he heard a deep sigh, and
Beauchamp called him. He went down and found Beauchamp lying on his back,
apparently in great alarm, and in loud and earnest prayer. Mrs. Beauchamp was
lying partly on ler left side, with her head on her hushand’s Lreast, and her right
arm thrown over him. The guard supposed, that in altempling to rise, she had
from weakness fallen on him. Not suspecting anything very serious had happened
ke sat down resting his head on the table, until Beauchamp had finished his prayer.
As s00n as he closed his prayer, he seemed entirely composed, and observed {o the
guard, ** tell my father, that my wife and myself are going straight to heaven — we
are dying.’, The guard repiied, “ nol reckon not.’”? The guard sprang up, sus-
pecting that they had again taken poison, but as he stepped around the bed, he saw
something in Mrs. B's right hand. He raised her arm, and found it to be a knife
sharpened at the point, and bloody about half way up. He asked, where they got
that knife? Both answered that they had long kept it concealed for that occasion.
Dn discovering the bloody knife, the guard looked upon the bed and discoversd
that Mrs. B. had a stab a little to the right of the center of the abdomen, which had
been laid bare for that purpose. She did not sigh, nor groan, nor show any symp-
tom of vain. He asked B. whether he was stabbed too. He replied yes, and raised
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up his shirt, which had been drawn out of his drawers and rolled up on his body
to leave it bare, but had fallen back over ihe wound. He was stabbed about the
oenter of the body, just below the pit of the stomach; but his wound was not 80
wide as thetof his wife. He said he had taken the knife and struck first, and that
kis wife had parried his arm wrested the knife frem him, and plunged it in herself,
He said, he feared his wound was not mortal, and begged the guard to get some
laudanum for him.

A2 soon as ke discovered they were stabbed, the guard called for assistance, and
the jailer with otliers immediately came in. Beauchamp begged that {hey would
take his wife out and attemnt to save her. Without any opposition from her, she
was immcdia:ely rcmoved into one of the rooms of the jailer's house. To the

enquiries of those who surrounded her, she replied, ‘“I struck the fatal blow myself
and [ am dying for my dear husband.?

; She now suffered great pain, and was evi-
dently in the agonies of death.

Her screams reached the ears of Beauchamp in his
dungeon, and ke asked ¢ is that my deac wife? Do bring me word what she says.””

The Physicians, Roberts, Majors, Wilkinson, had examined her wound and pro-
nounced it mortal, especially in her present debilitated state.

It was now determined to take him to the gallows as soon as possible. They
were carrying him through th: passage of the jailers house, when he begged fo see
Fus wife. The physicians told him she was not badly hurt, and would soon get over
it; and some objection was made to stopping., He said it was cruel, and they
earried him in and 1aid him on the bed beside her. He placed his hand on her face
and said, “‘my dear o you know this is the hand of you husband.”” She returned
no answer. He fell of her pulse and said, * physicians you have deceived me—she
is dying.”” “‘To the ludies who surrounded the bed he said,” from you, ladies, 1
demand a tear of sympathy.” He laid conversing with perfeci composure, occa-
sionally putting one hand upon his wife’s face, and feeling her pulée with the other.
until he had feltthe last throb. *“Farewell,” said Le, ¢ child of sorrow—Farewell
child of misfortune and persecution—-You are now secure from the tongue of
slander—For you I have lived; for you I die.”” He then kissed her twice, and, ¢ I
am now ready to go,”’

It was now half-past 12 o’clock. The military were drawn up, surrounded by
an immense crowd, all of whom were listening with intense interest, to every rumor
of the dyiug pair. As Beauchamp was too weak to set on his coffin in a carl, a
covered dearborn had been provided for his conveyance to the gallows. He was
now brought out in a blanket and laid in it. At his particular request, M'Intosh
took a seat by his side. Some of Lhe ministersof the Gospel had taken their leave
of him to whom he expressed the same confldence in the forgiveness of lis sins,
and the hope of a hapny immortality, as in the morning. The drums beat, und the
military and crowd moyed up Clinton-street, to Ann-street, along Ann-street to
Montgomery-sireet at Weiseger's tavern, and up to Montgomery-street.

¢ This music,”” said he, ** is delightful, I never moved mere happily in my life.??
Observing many ladies looking out at the windows, he requested the side curtains
of the dearborn (o be raised so hecould seethem, and raising up a little, contimued
towave his hand to them in token of respect, until the procession got out of town. §i

When they had reached the gallows, and he saw his coffin, he séemed wholly un-
moved. The Rev. Eli Smith, S. M. Noel J. T. Mills, and other preachers sur-
rounded him, inquiring the state of his mind. To all of their questions, he answered
Le was sure of going to Heaven—that his sing were forgiven hita on Thuzsday mosa-
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“ing. In every interval of the conversation he would say, with some impatience;
&1 want to be executed—I want to go lo my wife.””
[# He was now lifted out of the dearborn in a blanket, and set up, supported by thore
around him, on his coffin, in the cart. He'asked for water, and requested that
while a messeryer was gone for ity the music would play Bonaparie's Retreat from
Moscow. On his repenied tequest it was done. He then drank some water, and
they were ready, and said
slance, he rose up; theeart

in a firm voice requested that they would tell him wh

g lold all was ready; witih ast

be would rise up. e wi
Liewas inunched into eternity,

; afftictedl faiher. siarted with the two bodies for Bloomé&eld,
where tliey where butied; both in one coffin! There to lay watil

dfnl day.

his tive is pregnant with views of human charactetr and means of instraetion;
Tt is a beacon-light, to warn us from the indulgenee of passions, 10 teach us te zhua
the path of vice, and to shoW nsto what inevitable crime and woe, the first guilty
step lead,

Jere is a volume ogainst seduction—promise breaking—murder and suicide.
Read it, ponder upon it, and so sure as you live, you will be benefited by your owa

reflections,

A
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